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DePORD; Lieutenant 'George 11., quaokerij)os, 

the sign languatie expert of the polio* department,and I 

would like to have :him qualify as interpreter tn the 4eaf 

and duMb language in this case. I Will. use hiM when 

call the first witness, Annie Vento who it deaf and dumb. 

n. MJI,LIVATI: I object to him being called at 4nter-, 

Teter until his qualifications are shown. 

in the sign language being duly sworn, as tob.is.qulifA: 

cations, testified as follows: 

63 Dubois avenue, West prighton, Staten Island.) 

DJ TECT .EXA7II\IAT TO. TY PeFORD: 

0 What is your occupation? A I am a lieutenant of Po -

Q Are -ou familiar ..the siren language 117. which 1.doae 

are communicated to the deaf and dumb,, and by which thel.,OPV7 

municate ideas to other people?. A Yes, sir:, I taught the deaf 

for a great many years. 

0 What is the language called?. A, The ' sign Ian u, 

of tbe deaf. 

long have 'rou been using that langi ? A Thirt * 



language in courtS?-A I haVe  for the nineteen : years that 

have been in the department and before that naught the deafin 

a State institution at 68th street and eiexiPgton aVenue. 1 w.aS 

appointed' bY the State Board of 'Education to thilnstitUte in -

Trenton, New sersey 

othg'r placers.. 

Q I want the sign in the deaf and dumb langtage tø in-

dicate that a person had.been done any grievous injury? 

St.TILIvAN: I'object to that as incompetent, 

relevant and i :material. 

MR. D eFORD: I will show its materiality later 

cause I um going to show--

THE COURT: How many systems of the sign languade. 

are there. 

A The nelepee and the 

There are two? A Yes, sir. 

A Two? A Yes, sir. 

Now, have you talked with the complaining witness tm 

this case? A I have. 

What sign language did she use? A She used the univer 

sal sign language of the deaf, that is generally used through*r, 

out this country and England; that is a separate system. 

Q

 

You understand the signs used by her? A I do thoraue 

ly well. The is not as proficient in the siglis.as most deaf 

mutes of her age and experience are, but she is still per-

fectly plain with me, and it is quite as oloar as  spoken Lanr 



THE COURT: I will allow the question. 

Objection overruled; exception. 

Will you state whether or not there is a sign whichy 

belongs to the sign language, the universal sign languag 

which you say the complainant used which indicates that the 

person using it has been done an injury or has been done bad. 

n. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I will allow it. 'Exception. 

Yes or no, please. Is there such a sign? A Yes,sir. 

Will you show the jury what the sign of that language 

is the sign which indicates that the person using it has been 

done bad? 

MR. SULLIIrAN: I object to that. I will allow i 
• 

Exception. 

A The sign bad. (illustrating). 

Q. Stand up and,show it, A. (The hand pushed up or turn—

ed back up, lust like that (illustrating)". That isthe 

versal sign for had, and what kind of had is  qualified aft -

wards br augmenting that Sign. 

0, Does that language contain a sign which -indipate6 that. 

the person using it had been dope bad as the result of an- 6 

of sexual intercourse or an attempt with an act of ,interco rivio?• 

Mfl. SULLIVAN: .1 object  to that as incompetent, irma-: 

terial and irrelevant. 



The sign bad accompanied b3r the fire r placed ?it the 

hand in that manner (illustrating) indicate bad act of unlaw-. 

,(witness illustrat00.to the .pry.) 

Now are t1ose signs that you have given ubed-by this 

system of the sign language which you say the complainant em.-

That is the system which she employed, yes) sir. 

CR0 S EXAMINATION:BY TSP. FlULLIVAN: 

In conversing in the sign language, do you use two 

hands o one'? A In the sign language we use one hand With some 

signs, and two hands with others; there are about 48 000.signs.. 

TS there a system of the sign language ore hand•

 alone is 

 

used? A The manual alphabet show what the'Signs are.. 

• There are two manual alphabets, oni with hands, and one With 

one hand, but the sign language Uses -t& whole body, thearms) 

the face, , the hands, all are used in the sign langUag 

must not be confused with the manual alphabet, either doubly 

Q, Now, in using the in language, do you use the jA.fl-

ual In Using. the sign languages, the signs are 

frequently explained or augmented by the use only. f the single 

hand alphabet. I.may•say,that deafmutts.dp potuo the double 

hand, theat is only used by schoolchildren. Those who do not 

understand it use the singl6 hand. 

You have talked with her? A T have. 
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lice court? A I have. 

one? A What do you mean by the manual 8i n 

Q The manual sign of spelling a wor A You mean the or-

dinary alphabet, A, T, CI B, E with one han4 (illustrating). 

Q And you use two hands two? A No, sir; not with the 

deaf. This is a more handy alphabet to use--that is never used  

by the deaf not in a great many years. 

TzY DeFORD: 

Will vou state whether or pot there is a sign Of 

language, which, the system which you have,- the univerSal 

tem referred to, which indicates that the person making -it has 

been kissed? A There is the sign for kissed (indicating)* the 

fingers of that hand placed to the cheek (indicating). 

Will you again make to the jury so that. they will'get a 

clear understanding about it, the two signs, the sign indicat-, 

ing the person -Iakinr. it had been kissed, and the sign in-

dicatinp: that the nerson making it had been done bad or griev*. 
the 

inji)red and thath nerson making it had been injured 1) 

a person co,Ylmittinfl an act of sexual intereourse? 

'pH!: (WIRT: I don't think that is neceSsa 

1)e7O1D: I wanted to Show that all three of .them 

are rracticany the same. 

The. sirm for bad is this (indicating) 



Q And kiss? (IndiCating) :The fingers of the hand. th10:. 

way, the lips closed and the handplaced against the side of 

the cheek.(Illustrating) 

A The general sign, for bad with- . 

out indicating what particular bad act is meant is 

That is bad (illustrating). Now, a bad taking 

of anything, stealing, as we call it is this (illustrating). 

Q I want the sign indicating badLby an act Of ,sexual in-

dicating) that is unlawful sexual intercourse. 

When the last sign is made will you know that the 

completely done? A That is complete (illuotrattng) 

BY M. SULLIVAN: 

to say that ..that sign indicates sexual 

intercourse? A Yes, sir; not only that but that is Ookual 

tereourse (unlawful sexual intercaulvOthe committ 

Q Immoral? A Yes sire 

want to ask you this: Does this complainant 

eorreot and clear use of. 17/.)le sign language, I mean 

She employs it 

A-PL 



way, the lips closed and the hand placed against the sid0 0 

the cheek,(Illustrating) 

out indicatir what particular bad act is meant is that (in-

dicating). That is had (illustrating). NOwl a bad taking 

of nrt}ing, stealing, as we call it is this (illustrating). 

Q. 1 want the sign indicating bad.by an act 0f sexua4 in-

tercourse? A NowIthat had act is placing the finger tharp (in 

dicating). that is unlawful sexual intercourse'. 

) When the last sirrn is made -will you know that the act 

was'completei done? A That is complete (illustrating) 

BY 7'fL. F71.TLI,I1rAN: 

to say that that sign indicates 

in.tercourse?'. A :Wes, Sir; not only that but that ±5 sezual421: 

.tercou se (unlawful sexual intercourse;) the committing of Si: 

PY Mh, DePOJID: 

Q.. I 'mint to.asjs you this: Does this complainant havc 

ccrFect; and clear use of the sign language, I moan does she 

mpio.)i -it prop She omployki it 

I object to thie. 

C fttL I will IT0.1ow 



uses the sign language fairly well so that he is irory 

clearly understood in every sign. 

does not make this sign of sexual in tercourOe properl 

stead of doing it that way she 'makes it without placing. 

the hand there (indicating). 

object to that as incmpentiurn 

THE COURT: He is qualifyin 

Did -rou ever have occasion to ask her to give 

indicating sexual intercourse? A L did. 

Did she make an imperfect sort of a sign? 

ME, STJUIVAN : I object to that. 

Objection overruled; exception. 

A She mzikes sign that way without closing the hen 

(Mr.George H. Quackenbos, he witness just 

then .s'Jorn as interpr ter in the sign language.) 

VENTO, witness called on behalf of the Poo- • 

plc, bqin..7 dilly sworn, by :interpreter Quackenbos, topti:N.,p 

tN0 VA30 Of this  



MR. SULLIVAN: On the ground that he has been asso-

ciated with this case too long, and that he is .a pOlice 

officer interesded in the 'prosecution. 

Objection overruled; exception. 

(Mr. quackenbos acts as interpreter.) 

Tlig COURT: If you want to test the qualifica-

tiqns of the 'expert further I will allow you -to cross 

amine him now. Or if you wish to interrogate him as to 

his bias . in:any 'way I will allow, you to question him.: 

Otherwise I will allow him to act as interpreter. I think 

' that his qualifications have been sufficiently shown 

there is anything that you.wish to ask him on the 

tion of bias you may do so. Do you want td have hid). take• 

THE COURT: If you wish he may take the witness 

• qULLnAN: 

case .s Ido in a great ny, as I, have in most all,casss of 
4 • 

t!te kind; wid again beful the qrand Jury L interpreted in.: 



• this case-- and again before apd Ally a second tiMO 

interpreted in this case. 

9: Have you seen this woman anywhere ott4e f coUrt? 

A I have seen, her pass, bid -ood 'bye; she haS asked ma.a16ut 

when she must come again, whether She was through  beyond, that that 

nothing. 

Q ,Have you ever seen her at theyaverly HouSelth 

tenden Mission? A I donit know where that house is. Where iS 

it. 

Ninth street. A The reason lack you that that 

was interpreting up soniewhere in that neighborhood, 1 dOnit 

know the name of it. 

Q Up,on-Tenth street? A Yes, Sir; Tenth -street 

',Tow many times were you there? AL. Once; I went id,th 

another'dete-ctive. 

Miss Goldman? A I Ilayemet her. 

Q Was she present at the time of thin 1nterpreta 

tiOn that you did up there? A 1 am not positive; thes md a 

lady there; I don't know that she was the only one, a 4DOtor 

tat—is the only one: 

q You are in the Police department? A I am. 

Q .You have been in this cape since the arrest othe 

d f ndant?'A Since it cago in the police court. 

.When was that? A I do not know; I have, had, I sup-

pene, fifty cases since that, and I cannot tell. I go ai). o 

the city in deaf CASOB. I interpret in the curt. 
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p, in your interpretation in this, case yo:a have certain 

prepossessions, certain notions in your mind about it? ,A. 

sir. I not only do not, but I.as.ure you;but I oforf renter& 

ber the case enpugh to carry it in mind; I have seen so 1r 

cases, and :have interpreted in so many case,s, that the im.pres-. 

sion has .pssed from my mind. • 

Qi I will take your word for it. Now, you were 

terdret in this ca.se, .i,sn it quite possible that your men.tal 

attitude or mental impressions as to the .case will affect you. 

in your interpretation? A Nhy,I don it know how„it,,co-Uld. It 

5) 
is a matter of absolute indifference to te; am not- a. bit n-

terested in it; certainly not. 

Q You 'are not the 'arresting officer .here? A 

don't know ,f/ho he is. 

Q You mean you don know this :defendant? A, No, sir,never 

I Wouldn tt know him, I never saw him but once before, and,  that., 

-.vas in the  police court; I .never spoke to him. 

Q Your onl:,- connection with him hp,s been sin e:this. case 

began'? A I onlj saw him that once. 

Q, You have neve-.- spoken to him?, A No, sir; never;would 

not have knovin hia unless he was pointed out tome. 

Q, In your .pinion there is no reason 'Why you cannot • faith-, 

fully tell us what she says to you in the sign language? A Cer 

tuinly not; if' there was I should tell you. so. 



TILE, COURT: 'Tell her she will only talk to Nou the 

sign lanFuage; to wait until she hears from you, and then,. 

ansaer you., 

DIRECT EXA7INATIO1'i BY We. DePORD: 

T-tow old are you? A Nineteen years. 

Where were :rou born? A I was born in Galveston Texas. 

What wa,s our father's name? A Mr. Charles 

g, Is our father alive ? A No, 'sir; he is 'dead, 

Q, Then did he die? A I um not sure, I think t Vas nine 

ten years ago. 

Is :our mother ali-e? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Have, you any brothers and sisters? A Two brOtherS.. 

Q Any sisters? A I have a sister; I have but, on'e..siStor 

only one sister. 

Q,

 

Not, ask her if she is sure that she has only one his-

ter. A Two. I have tao sisters. I •e•ot my sister three eistiers. 

T II LITEBPRETER: 8he is confu.sed. I think she i 

counting her seld in_as a sister. She is probably eon -

fused in Sayirw that she has two and with he-rself sh.0 

has three sisters. 

How rawly brothers have you? A Three brothers, two. 

•ldtle ones una one .11tit is TagrT,er. 

When di“ 7.ou come to N W York? A One yer ago. 

Q. Where did. :ou VIen "ou 4Ae to New York? A went 



to live on Grand street . 

THE INTERPRETER: She does not give the Umber. She 

says six and 'Ghen nine, and then she made the sign *III do 

not know". 

Q Who did you go to live with? A I went to live 4ome 

where on Grand street with my mother. 

Q Who else was living there when you got there? 

THE INTERPRETER: She repeats constantly the nudber 

o? the house as 6 or 9, I don't which is right, and t have. 

asked her again and again. 

A Ily brothers and my mother. 

Q Did your sister Margaret live there? A. Yes, sir 0 

room 

Q Did she have a little baby? .A • One. 

Q Did 'yOu 411 live in the same apartment together?  

Q Now who ddd yo u sleep with in the room,.. or had you: ei• 

there? A With my sister. 

Q Who else? A I. slept in the same room that myjiister, 

was sleeping in, my brother has a little room aside. 

Q, Where d id your ma the r sleep? A She slept in the 

room. 

(d. now where ,did your sister llarrr,aret .and her husband .and 

baby sleep. Did they have an° tiler room? A She slept in the 

-room tu one side; they had a room. 

THE Ill fT P FiliT I1 h e repeatethey had a roum".• 



A 

And then she says,"it was one sidelli 

Q Do you know the dot' ndant, this man here 

the defendant) A Yes, sir. 

that. 

Q How long have you known him? -A A month or •longer- than' 

Q A month or longer than that? A' Yes, sir: 

Q, That do you call him? A His ,name is Salvatore 2ganze.U.0 

they call him Salvatore; his name *it" Salvatore Manzelloo e,nd I. 

call him Salvatore. 

Q, Did you see him on the 17th of November, 1914? ..A :Yes. 

1.• 

Q 

Where? A He came Lo the the room. 

That room? A He came to  the halls to  the door? 

Q Tkie door to what room, what door? A 'Re came to the dOor 

that aeads to where therkitchen is. 

Q, Where were ,rou then'? A He came through the 'kitchen and 

I was in the kitchen. 

Q What vere vou doing in the kitchen? A I was sittihg 

in the kitthen and had the baby on my lap. 

THE INTERPRETER: I have to repeat again and again 

the questions. She is not as bright as most deaf mutes. 

Q Who was in the house with Nou then? A My two little 

brat hers. 

Where was your mother? 

SULLIV:. I object - to. that. She could, not tell; 

). Did our mother leave the kitchen b fore- that? 

mother had none out 



How long had.sh been gone?A Perhaps an ho r' ,since 

about eight o'clock. 

Q, Where was your,, sister then, so'ur sister Ye, 

A She had cone out to buy some f7,00ds ; i don tt know what • ., but 

to buy some goods. 

Q, How long had she been one when: the defendan 

A Just a little time. 

Q, Was there anybody else in the apartment there at that 

time 'hut four two little :brothers and ,the baby and yOUriself? 
.•.: 

A My mother, two little brothers and the boarder. 

Q, Whom do you mean by the boarder. (Point him (Alt) 

(She points to that man-- indicating the defendant), 

Q, I said who do you mean by. the boarder ,,and  she V) 

with her. finger in this way? A Yee,. sir. (indica.tilIg. tit 0A.' 

fendant.) 

COURT: The • re co rd .must , show that sho t 

t e defendant. 

-•Q Who let the boarder • in? A I- sat on the chOr-amd Mr.• 

little bro iher ran. to the door; he opened the door. 

Q, What aic he boarder do when he came in? A He pullapl.,, 

.ne along 11:, arm 

Q, What is that? A He pulled :ne .along'by. the art. 

-(She repeated that three times.) 

6, Where did he take hold of :,rour arm? A. He pulled ma 

by the hand to the 'bedroom. 

',:ajiy when he rook twic of your lit nd? 



3,2? 

A The baby was away from me oxe.(That is. what 

Says.) 

Where 'was the baby? , A He took the baby' and put it in 

the carriage; she saTs I 'had the baby and he tool,c th;e 'baby .,u1 

nut it inthecarriage— no , she says, not- the carriage' but t. 

bed. 

Q, We put the 3-,ab3r in the bed. before he took hoaa.. 

hand or .afterward;? A He first took the baby 'f cmMO 

nc took my hand . 

Q Did he pull you hard or did he just• touch. ye 

. SULLIVAN: I obje c t to that . 

Q What did you* do when he took hold of your hand. Or, 

i:ook hold. of your arm? A He pulled my arm; I *pulled. baok 

tried  to cr,ez away h;chut the door, the bed-' robrn.. oo 

MR. STIET,TVAN : I move to strike, out ,"I tried to ,:goV 

( w 13.. a ] lou t4,i U Ktand,-, 

OLT, IVAa tako an exception. 

Q 1r c 7 1.4.c -.lit tie brothers when he took hold pr 

o tu' ant! ie.,. iv,i i A Hc gav.. each one a penny and put 

iu (JA (-) ,411(.1. 0 • 

Q. Did 'he: give them u, penny before he took hold. Of ,yaur 

arm or i; rwa td. ? A IP r t lie Put them in t,he ro Om I gave them 

penrQ) nd 1:11C11 p oiled me by the arm. 

Q, Were did he take you to? •A In his bdroom. 

Did he 'oil lonr * the w v from the Litchon to 



•-. 

• his ,bedroom. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that if the Co 

MR. DeFORD: She has already stated that 

o-17. her arm and pulled her along .and she pulled back.' 

MR. SULLIVAN: I think that is leading and. stxgges 

THE COURT: I'will Sustain the objiction to 

question. Let, her state what happened. 

BY . DeFORD: 

After he took hold of your am, what did he do ' 

A He took .me over and threw me on the bed, and Closed. the door'.  

After he r?,ot in his bedroom what did he do? 

THE INTERPRETER: She makes the same sign referred to. 

A He had sexual intercourse with me. He threw m.0 d 

T1L DeFORD: Was it kissed or sexual intortourse. 

THE COURT: The jury saw it. 

THE WITNESS: He locked the door on MO 

• Q, Did he lock the :door after'he ROt in? 

MR.:qULLIITAN : I object tO that as leadin 

• sur.rre st 

.A. It was onl,r shut; it was not locked.; not locked, 

0, Novi what did ou do after he thre*'yoi. down on th 

A I tried to break away; I was not strong I tried to scream 

and he put 'his hand over my mouth to silence me. (That iS 

the in silence). The intet"preter indicating. 

WITNESS:, . (Continuing) we put his hand over my 



Silence me. I was crying.. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I more to strike out tile part. 

er as to what she tried todo. 

THE COURT: I will strike out the last- 'part ntO 

d simply say!: He put his hand over My.mciuth 

THE CQURT; ,The. last part is her' conclusiOn 

MR. DeFORD: I was just. coming to that, 

BY 'MR • DeFORD: 
V. 

Q, Did you notice your do thing ,or the, hedoldtijü 

the defendant had intercourse with 'you? 

• mR. sui,Lnimi: I object to that atii• incompetent 

relevant and immaterial. 

THE COURT: I will allow it 

A I, did. T.noticed that my drawers were torn at '" 

and ,ut the sides, and there was blood on the bedclóth 

1,TH . SUL:LP/AN : I move to strike that out. 

• THE WW2: Prot ion den id: except on . 

THE COURT: How was she dressed at that time before 

the act is what I wanted to know. 



BY R.  DeIi010: 

Q, Did you wear a corset' at the tinie the defendant tooi. 

you into his"bedroom? 

AM. SULLIVAN': I object- to that as leading.. 

•THE COURT: I will allow the question. 

SULLIvAN: I take an exception. 

:BY THE COURT: 

Q, Did you have corsets on tha.t day? 

THE INTERPRETER: I asked first if she knew what the 

word corset :meant, and she said, "1 do". ayid indicated 

the sign for asked her if she ha ct cotset8 onthat da3r 

and she said "no they were loose", and I asked in What 

way they were on  her, and she said yes, but they .ware not 

tight they were loose. 

had- s 

Q, Did 7,.rou notice or obse-ve .ybur corset after. th.e c.lefen.dait, 

xua.1 intercourse with you? 

• Mr?. SULLIITAN: I object to that as incompe t ir-

relevant and i material. 

THP, ODURT: I don't know 'whether it is or not.i t141 

allow it. It may develop to be material. 

A I don It re•ne,11-,er that I saw anything about he corsertIO 

Q, Did --our face have anything on it after the efridant 

had sexiz:11 in...i...cJuvse with ,:rou, WEL fi it :narked in oily way? 

SULLI trAv : I object to that as leading. ' 

TRE COURT: I will allow the question. 

'IT. Do t : I 11,..v e, L 0 !I-ix SOriw „TrAv to draw the 



attention of the witness to the subject. 

THE WITNESS: His hands were dirty, and my face was 

clean, and he markedmy face. 

THE INTERPRETER: That is the exact thing that she 

says. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, What kind of dirt was on his hands? 

THE INTERPRETER: I put the question to her .just .as 

the Court told me, and she repeats again and*againnhis 

hands were dirty, my face was clean when he came  in" 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

Tell her to scream like She screamed when -he put his 

hands over her mouth? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object' to that. 

MR. DeFORD: I want the jury:to get some idea of uha, 

sort of a scream she can make. 

(The witness illuStrates Making a sound..) 

Now tell her to scream as loudly as she can '.A. Again, 

again, again. (Witnessmakes the same sound three times.) 

Q Is that as loud a noise as you can make? 

SULLIITAN: I object to that if the Court plea 

THE COURT: .1 will allow the question. 

answered it already. 

TUE WITNESS: Yes, that is as  loud as I call. 

THE INi-EHPRETER: She repeted it again twice and iitlen 



• made. the sign that her throat is 

• Q, Did you tell any person ,that the defendan 

tonal- and irrelevant. • 

A .1 had tried to tell, my sister. . 

How lonr after this :defend4nt- did 'bad to. you,. ho* 'many. 

es o hours. Just answer the question, how many- hoUrb.&c. 

She has not stated th.a t Tot . Te'll her to say how 

minutes-- how lonv after 'this' happening . did you 8pCO. 

your sister about it? A lAY sister went out at 8 ,o tolook arid. 

-eturned at nine and I told her when she returned. •• 

Q. WaS your sister the first person that came to the .• 

ment after this, yes or no? • 

THE INLET-4'11MR: • It is •. impossible to say ' yes or no. 

I would hv to tran slate just wha t she say's . 

want an answer to my question. A. My bre thrars atm 

in "h.efo re i si jtr fro,1 

Qr Yo lir ro eri,rb$11-;loIii Vrc n. .h%..,1 0 in r: c /{6i1 I.11,3rtr 



after this happened to you was 

in? A Not long, a little ti 

Q, Did.. you know what the. defendant wanted to do with••yoU 

T HE COURT: I will allow the question 

K13. SULLIVAN: I take an exception. 

w fi aid; I was afraid of him; I thought' he was 

me: that is ,vhat she said. 

qULLIITAN : I move to strike out the answer as not 

.THE COURT: I will allow it to stand. 

THE Dl TER.PRETER: That an sers • the quest iou 

about what she does not say. 

0 S MAK IN AT IO.N B2' MR . SULLIVAN 

Q, How long had this  defendant been living as. a 

THE COURT: Why can t you •9rove that b,  some Oth 

witness. It is so hard to get things out .of hev., 

.boarded for two, maybe ttr.cf.: may:be-



ive menthS 

ever it. was,yoi had been in those rooms alone with the de-

fendant many times? A Yes, sir; I had seen -him a nwuber Of 

Q Being alone-- you and he together Were there aional 

That '!vas the only time that we both were alone, 1:th.in1., 

Q Did this defendant sleep therp at that house that 

night, the 17th of November, after this happened? A I don't 

.think he came back that night. 

Q Now, how long did he board at the plate after this'thUt 

happened? A It might he two or three OT four days; sbdoct not 

CI Now since you have been in this city this 

you teen Working in any factory? A For three or GLt 

I worked in a factory, cutting out flags* 

Q Is that the only employment you have been in .sino 

1-Icia in 11.:1 city? A Nothing else. That is all. 

Did fou wovk anywhere 'before you came to ,11,0w York o.t 

in any factory? A I a6tended a class in 9ohoo,l; I- did, 0 



THE COURT: You can.getall thatfróm spMe ther-wit-

ness, Mr. Sullivan, if you wish. 

A Pour rooms. 

Q How many families live on that floor, if yOu.k Plir) 

miO'it be two or three or four, I don't know. 

Q Was your bother-in-law, your sisterlyour mother 

three little •b-oters in there on the 17th of November, .tight-• 

alon,:An6. Alefter while thusedefendant remained th0e 

THE COURT: Suppose you reserve those questions for , 

some other witnesses. There are other witnesses, and if 

you cannot prove it by them, I will allow You to recall he* 

This is a part of. our defense. I cannot alloW.you 

into your defense with this witness. You may reball•h T 

if you do not 'get the information you want from morap .Othe 

witness. That is not cross examination on her direct.tes7 

timony. 

IP. :SULLIVAN:- take an exception,,, 

THE COUBT: If there is any .cross examination d 

rected to this particular case that you wish to hav 

you may ask the questions, but these other matt,rs can'be 

asked of o her. witnesses. See how difficult it is ta: • -t 

y Infon. ioT 1ii. You .D1 (L1 thO itnesn. 1"4, 

" 0R AN N T. , 11 (.11 



(The witness states she lives at 38 st. 10th street in 

the ci*Y of New Yoidc 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DeFORD: 

• What is our occupation? I, am a physician. 

Q, Are youa graduate of a school of medicine? 

Q, Have you engaged in the general practise of medicine? 

A Ihave, yes, sir. 

Q, Have you specialized in any particular depart 

medical practise or observation? A. Yes, qir; I ha,ve. 

Q. Will you state what it is? A I have, beela particua.-arly 

interested in the relationship between mental defects and dë1i 

quency for past six years. 

Q, And moral delinquency as manifested by. iminal acts? 

Q, Have you had a great deal of experience in observing 

persons for the purpose of determining the relation of their 

mental condition for defectiveness to. moral delinquency? 

studyThath of the physical condition as well as the ment 

ities of the persons t.).1.at•You have 

AfiR STILLIVAN: • I object to that .as in,ompetent., 

relevant and icrimaterial.. '.1the form nf the quest Ion ie, 



Q Have you made an observation Of many persons for 

the purposeof determining their mental condition With refer-

ence to moral delinquency? A I have, yes, sir. 

and examinations of their body as well as a method todeter-

mine the quality of their mind, general knOwaedge and so forth?. 

Objected to; 9bjection overruled; exception. 

A Yes, °sir. 

Q, Describe it. A It includes a general history of the 

case. It takes into consideration the physical condition as well 

as the mental condition, the environment and all the available. 

information. 

Q Do you make an examination of the Physical condition 

of the person under observation? A Yes, air. 

Q. -Then do you make some effort to .get at the mental, con-

ition? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now what methods do you .adopt.for the purpose of:aacer-

taininp: the mental conditon of the person; under observation? 

SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

DePORD: I um tryinv to show that she is speCial 

qualified for the work in which she has been.engaged. 

A I tillre emplo:red the tests well known in this field' 

of v,ork, that is the psycl)ology test known as the Bone Semen' 

and also c).her tests which have been devised by different  

color.r,ista to test different mental qualities. 



• best known. They are a test of a series of different thing's, 

which a child, a no-rmal child, at ifferentag.sia supposed to 

be able to do, and in dditiori to that other test I .used, test 

ing the abiLity to concentrate, the judgment and then test the 

ability to fo"m rational associations, and of course 

Q, Did you make a test for the purpose of ascerta,ining-
the 

whether they hvJcnowlede that usually runs with th0,a;g4 

Q, Did you have under observation the witness who preped-. 

ed you on the stand, Annie Yenta? A Yes., sir. 

Q, When as she first brought to you? A Then •30,th. of A:ri 

Q, Did -,,rou subject her also to thes 

the purpose  of ascertaining her mental Condit ion? 

M. SULLI''AN: 1 object - to, that as incompetent, irro...e. 

• van t and i naterial. • 

Q. What 'd ate was this? A The 30th of 'April. 

Mk. ,D PORI): I wanted .to prove .p 



MR. SULLIVAN: I und rstand_that pregnancu mUst. 

oceeded four or five months beThre it can be pos-

TETE COURT. Was there  other physical examination 

at the time prior to this. I donit see how this is pigter,ial 

it is rather remote.If she can state how far the pregnancy. 

had aQvanced she may do so. If the first doctor examined 

her and gave the result of his examination it might 

him to say whether her condition then was a state of Preg7 

course. That is all you have to prove id this case. 

L. DeFORD: I am fully prepared to prove pregnancy. 

This girl testified that she never had any relations with 

einybody else in her life. 

THE COURT: If the doctor can testify as to th date 

of the pregnancy she may do so. I will allow that. 

Q From the physical examination,couldyou testifY)o 

male, how long pregnancy has existed? A Approximately' 

Q. With any degree of accuracy? A Yes, sir; I think 

Q Within what period? A I should say from five to s 

A Well, I would make that state—ent between'five and six . 

you wouldnit 1,e five or six months , 

wrong? A I 1-e,, pardon. 



014d you state frot,an examinat4*en Of hi$ patien 

about the time when :the pregnancy was caused? A Yes sir; ap-

prqximately. 

Q Not within five or six months, you dontt,mean that? ' 

A I should say she had advanced in pregnaney .between five and• 

six months. 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q I am speaking now of the witness, A4n1e Ventp? A 700. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I move to strike out all the testi-

mony. about pregnancy. 

Motion denied; exception. 

What did you'find her mental condition 'bid be as the 
to mihich 

result of the test/you subjected her? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that as in competent 

THE COURT: ' I will allo* it. The charge in the it,-

dictment is based on the mental Weakness of the a)1311410A-

ant. 

What do 'you mean. Tell the jury what you mean? A 

mean, that in my opinion, there is a condition of mental 

tardation which has been brought about, progressively, from 

flammation of the brain from which' she is. said to have suffered 

when she was five years old. In additjon to that the deaf 

mutism has Shut offimpressions from rea6h1rig 

MR. SULLIVAN:. I object to this. 

THE WUNESS: And thnt HAR ."4"1" 1 rit4 



velopment. She has failed to attain full mental developrneit 

because these impressions have--

Q You call that ementia? A 'Yes, sir; secondary ementia. 

Q You state that her mental development is incomplete 

that correct? A I would consider it so. 

Q Are you able to state--did you make any tests for the 

purpose of ascertaining her ability to coordinate ideas? A 

Q, 1ow, what do u mean by the phrase "coo 

A I mean to put things together, that is to have the ability 

to explain cause and effect, fQT instance, I took ten smoill ar-

ticles which I put down in a certain order, and it having been 

explained to her beforehand, that she was to give me as well 

as she could the order in which those articles had been put 

down, and than I took them, and put them in order, and I then 

askedher to put those articles altogether in pairs according 

to the way that the things naturally belonged -together. For in-

stan cc, there was a shoe and a het, a gun and a hat and a cup, 

a 'chicken, a man, and a horse and her arrangement of thoSe arti-

pies was hot -reasonable, nor was she able to explain why. She A 

can when you say that she could not coordinate 

mean th.t she could not express them with nor 

clearness? A Yes, sir; I mean that. 

p did not seem to be rational. 



Q How did you commtinicate with her? A An inretc 

came over for the mental examination. 

Is that a simple test to be'made for the purpos of a 

certaining the capacity of the subject to coordinate ordinary 

certaining what her state of mental development 

what her information or knowledge was with respect to thoordi-

nary girl of her age? A Yes 

did, to some extent. I carried that on after the formal mentl 

exx,iination was had, chiefly by writing. 

Q. By what? A By writing. That is I wrot e ues 

and I found her slow in comprehension; I had to 

rephrase my questions frequently, and -ven though they were 

put simply I found :hut she was tardy in her realization Of 

wiat I meant. Her answers showed that-- her answers were e*. 

''sed In a very childish way, that is, there were words which• 

were frequently left out. 

Yew many such examinations have 'rou made of children? 

A I have made hundreds of them. 

Q, How .? A I can't tell, I don it know. 

Can't :!ou ivQ 110 some estimate? A Well, I presUme 

have made at 1( 



ing their attention to Section 415 of the Code of 

Procedure, and took a recess until two o 'clock.) 

AFTER RECESS: 

D R. AN N T. B IN GH A M, a witness for the people, 

sumes the stand. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY R. DeFORD: 

Q, Now, Doctor, are you able to tell from the examina-

-Lion of Annie Vento• she is a person of weak er immature- mind 

from the viewpoint- of her age and so -forth? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that as in.competent n• 

immaterial. 

THE COURT : She may eacpress her °pin 

Q, Will you state what the opinion is? 

SULLIVAN: I object to that on the •gro 

the first place, that it doeTionot come within the xr,16aning 

of the allegation of the indictment. The language of 

question is such as to leave' the thing too far antly from G 

• the issue here. 

THE COURT: Any otherground? 

ME. SULLIVAN: On. the ground that it ±S irrelevant 

Incompetent and immaterial. 

THE COURT: The jury will decide upon tho qua1ifca 

tons of the witness on this subject. You may cross examt 

in her now, if you wish.. I will overrule the.objection en 

..;111Mer 4, .vr.a 
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the other ground. If you wish to cross examine her you ma 

(4, Hew many times did you talk with this WOMan? A-

° spent one whole morning with her, and another afternoon Ita 

ed with her by  for probably an hour and a half. 

have seen hein the Waverly House. My office is in the daate 

house where the girl has been staying. 

One of those examihationS w 

(1 When was the first examination? A 

Last month? A Yea., sir.' 

When was the second? A I can tell you exao0.!IT' 

was perhe.pu week later, I am not certain 

THE ODURT: I overruic the objection. 

Q. "Oil?. you state what your opinion. is as to hOD men 1, 

(pldition at the time ;rc5u examined her whothor she was mn 

Ilv weak or LTI1W,UV, or tho re-versa? 

Mh. SULLIVAN: I objGet'to that .as not'coming 

.e accusation of the  indictment. 

THE COURT: 01-jection overrulnd.• 

SULLIVAN: I take an exceptJon. 

The alawnosis which I made convelred 1:v idGa that :c 



What .is your Opinion? A My opinion J41,ihat she is im-

mature,  she is not fully developed mentally.  

That she is mentally weak from the Standpoint of h r 

age? A Yes, sir; if you want to use that term I prefer nma,.!.. 

ture. 

Is that the proper word? A Yes, sir. 

Her immaturity results from weakness, does i no't 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

Q Your opinion is that she was mentally weak and nature, 

is that correct? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, are you able to state to the jury, you o;b10 

to express an opinion as to whether her mental coditiVia t 

quality of her mind was that of a girl of nineteenW' a Oirl 

of fifteen or a girl of ten? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I.object to that. Objo otionovomuled. 

Exception. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Will you now state .rour impression or your opinion or 

r.hat subject? A Well, I considered that her mental develop-

ment far below that of a normal girl of nineteen years. 

How far below, can you state? A I don't believe her. 

,nental development is possibly beyond that of a normal Z1 Of 

ten years. 

CPOSS EXAMINATION 11Y MR. SULLIVAN. 

au predicuto tbat opinion upon two iriterviews with 



What standards do you apply of maturity lit nineteen 

I have used, as I have explained 2to you the weaa knowris 

psychological tests which have been worked out or Standardize 

on normal children at various ages. 

Q Your conclusion was that this girl was not up to the 

Q Didntt you find, in some respects that she had 

degree of cunning than some children of nineteen? A Ro:,, sire 

You' will not go any further than to say at she i 

below the average of a girl or a woman of nineteen 

mental maturity or development? A I consider th0 halr9 

.gone further than that when I made trie statement hore that sho 

had not advanced beyond the mental development ordinarily 

reachd by the normal girl of ten years. 

Q On what do you predicate your opinion, Upon the tests 

that yOu have made,the tests that you have narrated here? 

A And all my conversations with her, yes, sir. 

CHAR.L'IB VEN.TO,awitness for the people.) . 

duly callealtestified as follows: • 

piREcT EXAMINATION BY MR. DeFORD: 

• 0 
You aw me upstairs-, didn t 

asked you some questions 



• A Ye0, 'sir. 
BY `THE COURT: 

Q You just talk to me. You can make more noiSe than 

• that if you were out in the street., Did you see the Soldiers 

Charlie, do you know what it is to tell a lie, do you 

know what a lie is. Will you say yes instead of nodding. Ii 

do you say to that. Do you know what it means to tell.a lie? 

Tho told you that • Did. you learn that in Sch.00l or 

your mother tell you that? A 1 learned it in scb.00l. 

Q, That Echool did yOU go to-- do you know what school you 

Q, Did. you say no, you didn,t know what school, where 

was tho•schooli :Did somebody take you to school. Wh.0-,tbel:' 

you to achool? A Margaret. 

Q, Who is that? (Indicating the complaining witneBS) 

Q, Does she look after.. you when your mother is awaY? 



NOW, stand up. Do you know who this 10? 6ointing io 

the defendant) A Yes sir. 

Who is that man there? A , Margaret ts 

That is your sieter Margaret's cousin-  ae is your 

cousin, Margaret's poUbiny. 

SULLIVAN: I object to this as incompetent a 

THE COURT: There is nothing objectionable so far. 

Did. he ever give you a penny Charlie? A Yes, sir. 

Q SNow just tell me when he gave you a penny? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to this as incompetent 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

Q, When did he give you a penny. I want you to tell me 

CanIt you tell me when he gave* you a penny? 

.SULLIVAN: Find out how old the witness 

qhen he gave 'lou a penny,any-

MR, SULLIVAI : I object to 

Now, who Was presen t when he not his penny. I want to 

pet his mind fixed on the transaction. What did he say 

to you when, he p:ave .7;ou he p nny? A Go in Margaret's rooai 



Did he say "Go in Margaret's room"? A Yes, 

Did you go in Margaret's room? -A Yes Sir.i. 

Now, have you a little brother named Bata? -A Yes, 

Where did. Sam go? A In Margaret's room. 

Q. Did he go in Margaret* s room? A Yes sir. 

That did Margaret ts cousin do after you went in Marga-

ret s room? A He brought Ahnie in his room. 

Q He brought Annie in his room? A Yes sir. 

Q That became of the baby, where Was the baby? 4 In, t1I 

Q That did the defendant dO? A Carry her 

Can, you she* or tell the jury, can you Show, 

stand by you, and show these men how he carried. her, what ,did 

Can ,t you show me ,hoi he carried her?, A He 

ho •t you? (Witness illustrating)." 



4OH. 

Q You do the same things with your hand that 'did with 

h s hand. You try, tit,' .show To what he did to, her. Nobody is. 

going to hu-t you. Come on, weld show me,what 120 did,' bid he 

catch her? A Yes, sir. 

that? A No, sir. 

Q, What are you afraid of,. Charlie, I am not.going to 

hurt you. You show these men just how he put his hands on An-. 

nie-. Can't you. show me? 

SULLIVAN.: I object to this.. 

Q Now, you vvent in Margaret's room, did .you? A  

Q What is that? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was the door left open or was it shut? A Shut. 

Q. Shut? .A Yes, sir. • 

Q, What did you do with the penny, have you still got 

the penny? A No, sir. 

Q, What did ybu do with it, did Sam get a penny toe? _ 

A Yes .sir. 

Q Who gave Sam the penny? A Margaret's cousin. 

Q, After you Nent in your room did you come out again? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did. you see Annie whenyou came out? A yes, sir. 

Q. What was f3h e • ao inr7, -shell you sawher after•you came out  

of' the room? A C'r.ying,. 

Q, Did you tell Margaret anything abou'e.' t? A Yes). sir. 



. When did- you tell 

in the room. 

You didn't see Margaret until afterwards., When did you 

telt Margaret about it  A Then she came. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SULLIVAN : 

Q Didn't you tell Margaret you saw Annie and this'de-

fendant kissing? A No, sir. 

Q Didn t you tell your mother than? A No, sir. 

That you saw them kissing each other? A No ,sir.  

Q, How many people have talked to you about this case;how 

many times have you been examined, and have you talked this* mat-

ter over, before you came to court today? (Ns angwer ) 

er about ? A. 'When he took Annie 

MARGAR.ET VILLANO MALUSSOlawitnesscall-,-

ed on behalf of the People, being duly sworn, testifi0d 

as follows: 

(The witness states that she lives at 507 East 1 h 

sti-eet, in the city and county of New York.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 1VIR. DeFORD: 

Q Where do you live? A 507 East 11th street. 

Q. Are you married? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What is your husband's name? Al Salvatore Villano'•• 

Q, What bus in  is he in? A He wo rks at the dock. 

Q, Whore did .he live On ov about the 1r/th- of November, 

? A 21. Grand utrCet. 

1(i Iycm tliere? A (u Maio. 



Q, In this city? A Yes, sir. 

And county? A Yes, sir. 

Now, just tell the jury how many persons ii rIi that 

apartment where you lived, that is, t ,pv, who roomed to-
t, 

gether in the apartment there, how many roams/ A 7oUr rooms., 

Q, 

Q, 

Q, 

" Q 

Q, 

Q, 

Q, 

How liany bedrooms? A Thee. 

Who occupied one of the bedrooms? A My mother.. 

Who occupied it with her? A And the Children. 

The children? A Yes, sir. 

Her children? A Yes, sir. 

Now, how many were there? A There was five. 

In that room? A Yes, sir. 

Now, there was your mother in that room? A Yea, i 

And four children? A No, sir; five child , One and 

that is six with the mother. 

Q• That made five children who Occupied one ol the btdo. 

rooms? A Yes sir . 

11 1 

Q How many children were boys? A Three boys • 

Q • That were their ages? A Five, seven and ten. 

Q And Zen? A. Yes, sir. 

Q Now '.he two. girls occupied the 5arne room? A Yos•Oir. 

What girls? A Annie Vento and Bridg i Von o. 

Who occupied tho next room? A 'My husband.. 

Who was the thlrd y.'oom A '3Riyatore Man-

t? A Lt 



• Q Did you have a little baby? A Yes,' sir. 

Your husband and yourself and the baby o0 tlRied one road 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And the defildant occupied another bedroom/. A. Yes Sir. 

Q Now the folirth- room in the apartment was a kitchen, 

is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, how are those apartments arranged, when you come 

into the apartment du you come into a hall? A Yes, sir; you 

come into a hall, and go throtzgh the kitchen. 

Q You go into the kitchen from the hall? A Yea siV..k 

Q Now, how are the bedrooms with respect to the kitchen? 

A The bedrooms-- one was on tie front, my bedroom and ,the other 

was on the back. 

Two on the back? A Yes, sir. 
.bed 

It was consisting of front/room and in the rear two 

bedrooms? A Yes, sir. 

Q When you came in the hall is the kitclOn oppositb the, 

hall? A Yes, sir. 

Q Vow what did you use the kitchen for,.w s the kitchen 

'Um:living room of the apartment? A Yes, sir. 

ThaL WRMhe placthat you stayed we ) :/c.»4 were there - 

wh"-  )I' 1"A If 14011e 0 1)-d?. A Yep, sir. 

2 A Y ; , 
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Q "Did you take -your meals there? A Yes) s 

Q• Your work vas done there? A Yes, si3r. 

'Q, That is the place you sat about'.'a'fter your meal' 

A Yes, sir. 
Q 

Q, Now, was there a door leading from the kitchei 

of the bedrooms which adjoined it? A The one next ;to it, 

bedroom. 

Q, Was there a door leading from the kitchen? A' 

Q, Directly to any of the bedrooms? A Yes, sir. 

Q, 

Q, 

Which bedroom? A To all the bedrooms. 

Would you have t -go out from the kitchenixttothe 

to get to those bedrooms? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Could you go from the kitchen directly through the door 

of the. kitchen to the bedroom? A Yes, sir; the kirchen to the 

bedroom. 

Q, Did you have to go out from the kitchen into the hall 

to get into the bedroom? A You have to go in the kitchen to go 

into the bedroom. 

Q Then you come into the•apartment you went into the kit-

then? A Yes sir. 

Q, Yop go from the kitchen to the two bedrooms through " 

two doors? A. Yes, sir. 

Q And to the front bedroom5throug,h one door? A Yes ;sir 

Q, Now, you couldn't go into, the bedroom unless you went 

in thelkituh€:n1 A No, sir. 

wri i 10 o rn did the defendan.t occupy? A His room. 



chen? A The one next to the kitchen. 

The kitchen? A Yes, sir. 

Who occupied the rear most bedroom, the one beyond:the 

defendant's bedroom, first. his room comes, who occupie4 ;b11,0 

next bedroom? A 'My mother's room,thencomes mine., 

Q, Who occupied the front bedroom7A Myself. 

Q Now, were yo /U at home on the morning of the 17th of 

November when this affair occurred? A No, sir; I was not-. 

Q You were home early in the morning? A Yes, sir. 

Q That time did you get up that morning? A Six 0101004 

in the morning. 

Q, six o'clock? A Yes,, sir. 

Q, What time did you husband got up? A It was about 'half 

past five. 

Q Did you see the defendant that morning? A No, sir; 

didn"'t see him; I seen him about 8 alclock in the 'morning.. 

-Did you sae your mother that morning? A: Yes', sir. 

Did yourhusband leave the premimes that morning? A- Yee 

About what time? AL, About 6 aiclock. 

Did your mother leave that morning? A Yes, sir. 

'half past six. 
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es*,4 

Q, Did you see the defendant in his room at all that 

morning? A No, sir; I didn't see him that mernipg. 

Q, You don-It know when he left? A No, sir, 

Q, Now, your husband and your mother•left there 

ing after you got up? A Yes, sir. 

• Q, They left the house? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now,. did you leave there that morning? A Yes 
to 

Q What time? A About a qua.rte_rjeight when Ileet. 

Q, Who was in the apartment when you left? A My two - 

nrother, my sister with the little baby. 

Q Your sister Annie? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And Charlie? A • Yes; sir; Charlie and Sam. 

Q, And Your little baby? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you leave Annie in charge of the little baby? A 

left the baby with Annie in her lap. 

Q, In her lap? A Yes, sir. 

Q And left the two children there :with her? A Yea, sir. 

0; Now, when you went out did you lock the door or was it 

locked? A She locked it herslef. 

Q, Who  A Annie. 

Q, How do you know?' 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

Q Did you see her lock the door? A Yes, sir; I told her 

to lock it. 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

How c ,uld :rou tell it was locked? A I pulled the look 

in 



7. 

like this (illustrating). 

After you went out/ A. Yet, sir; after 'Vent out. 

Q Do you knoW whether she locked the door OT hot A yet, 

,sir; she locked it. I know I didn't leave unless I 1104rd i 

locked. 

Q. You heard the bolt slip in the lock? A Yes, sir. 

Q .You herd that that morning? A Yes,, sir. 

Q Now, did you return to the apartment late - ha .day? 

About ten o'clock. 

Q About ten o'clock? A Yet; sir. 

Q Who did you find there when you got back? A I foii 

Salvatore.Manzello. 

The defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q Who else did you find .there? A My little bro.tIeD and 

sister. 

You found everybody there that you left there? A, Yet. 

Q In addition to the defendant? A Yes; sir.. 

Q Now just describe to the jury what your titter was 

doing, what her appearance was; and what she said when you 

got in? A When I got home I saw my siste,; and I asked her wh4 

was the matter;,; she was kind of weeping and I said, 11What:$5 

the matter", and She gave me a sign that I did. not under-

stand. 

What was the A The sign (illustrating). 

--,•'741111111111111= 



You say she was weeping when you got 'es ,sir. 

D.id you 'notice the- appearance of her clothes? A No 

Was that all she said to you? A Yes, sir. 

You can answer yes or no. Did Charlie say anything 

c'ent-in his hand, and I asked him who gave it to.. him, n4 he 

to id me he gay it to h im, and I said, "Why did he give it 

him", and he said, "I donft know". I said, "Why did he giv's 

you th.e cent for", and he said "He gawe me the cent, and pul; mo 

in your bedroom, andtook Annie in his room." said,. "How did 

he take her, and he said, 'SHe took her by the shoulder and car-

Q.. 1ow, are you older or ydunger than Annie? A Yettngct,,. 

how long did the defendant have a room in your 

mother's apartment? A About six months. 

Q. Is he related to your husband in any way? A 

Q Did you have any conversation with your 



Q bid your tell your mother-wha lihe had Said to you? 

sir; I told my mother.,, 

Objected toi objection sustained. 

What - was the defendant do ing , When you vent ' into—thci—

apartment on your. return? A He Was standing there frying so 

Q He was frying some liver? ,A Yes sir. 

(4, Continued to room there with you? A Yee sin it s 

one day, and the next day he went. 

Were you_ pre sen t when he left the next day? A Yepibir.-

Did your mother Say something to him? A MY. nOtha 

THE MUTT : Did he say anything in reply to Wha 

at  any conversation in whihh 



the defendant took part. 

MR. De 'ORD: We have shown that h 

BY MR., DeFORD: 

You said the d..efendant made an answer? A.•Yes, sir. 

•Q, You understand what that means? A Yes, sir* 

Q, Your mother said something to him and he said some-

thing to your mother? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Tell us what your mother said to him, and he said 

your mother? A My mother told him that he had kissed her 

Tay mother said "Was it really necessary to kiss my daughter 

and he answered, "I didn t kiss your daughter. I did not 

her." 4er 

Q .Did you tell your mother that he .had kissed laior A Yet:, 

Q Why did_ you tell her he had kissed her?, 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

Objection sustained. 

Q Did you understand the sign your sister e. to you to 

describe or to indicate that he had kissed hei? 

MB. SULLIVAN I object to that as an ope ,at .io o 

her mind. 

THE COURT: I will allow that. 

Q, Did you understand the sign your sister made?' 

sir; I understand it as like it was a kiss. 

• You understood it to mean a kiss? A Yes, sir. 

That is what you -repeated to your mother? A Yee,eir* 

Now, what time was the .defendant expected to r'iso and 



leave your apartment in the morning? 

MR.. SULLIVAN: • I object to that. 

THE COURT: 1 will allow it* 

Exception* 

Q, About 5 o clock. in the morning'. • 

Q, Did he come ba'ck 'again? A Yes", sir; he .carrie. back* 

Q, What time? A About .8 o'clock in the morning. 

Q, On this morning that this transaction occurred did. he 

return and bring coal with him? A Yes, sir. 

Q, About what time? A About. 8 o cio 

Q About 8 o'clock? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were you there when he came? A. Yes, sir. 

Q Did he go away again? A Yes, sir. 

Q So when he went away and you left, Annie, the two 1it 

tle boys and the i)ab:v 'would left? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That is on the next day? A. Yes, sir.. 

Q.

 

Is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q, .Did you remain home during the day, the 17th of Novem-

ber? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were you home? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Remained in the home all day? A Yes; sir. 

Q Wore you home all day? A Yes, sir. 
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Q Ussthat older boy home? A 1‘o want home. 

Where Was he? A He was at school., 

Q,  Was he home, when you came back that morning? 'A Ten yea 

old boy, no, sir, he was not. 

Q, Was he there when 3;ou left to go out of the house that . 

Q, About half a block or a couple 

where you live? A About three blocks away. 

Q, Did you see him at noon time hen 3!OU cane 

little brother? Yes. 

The ten year old boy? A Yes, , sir; about thr 

time during the day on the 

Q, You did not speak to her anything about this 

Q The next morning? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Your sister was there? A Yes, 

Q, That day thcis defendant came 

Q, You were there in -the morning? A. Yes, sir. 



He came back that nigbt?'A Yes, sirs 

The defendant Olept there that night? A 

He ate something there? A No, sir: 

was not up; my husband was up. 

•Q, What.tjme did you get up the next day? A. Six t.).!Aolotk 

Q, Was J;ke defendant up at that time?. A He was gone. 

What ti.me did you 'see him on the next day? A 1 didut 

the next day.' 

Did yousee him talking t6,3our mother? A Yes, sir; - 

What time was that? A About 8 o'clock in the morning. 



Q, How old are they? A 011e is five years and one is 

Now, at any time up to that time Annie had ndit ma 

any statement to you or to your Mother except that she had. 

been kissed by this defendant, did she-- that was the state-

ment she made, wasn it it? A Yes., sir. 

MR. DeFORD: I object to that. 

Q, Now, when this defendant and your mother had the tafl 

time you  

there, and this defend-

Pant was there in your house? A yes, sir. 

Q At that time you understood that this defend 

kissed Annie or Annie had kissed him one or the other 

Q Is that right? A Yes) sir. 

Q What sign did Annie make to you when you came in,. Will 

show the jury? (The witness illustrates to the jury). 

Q, You have shown that to the jury/ 

Q Now, this defendant had. a room there he had his 

and .he got his own meals, isn't that right? A Yee, sirs 

Q Was there any trouble that morning about a gas b 



Q Wasn't that discussed 'there that morning, about trying 

to make him pay for the gas bill? A It wasntt that morning; 

about the gas bill that morning. 

Q Did. you say anything about it the day before? A 

Q, Was there anything about it at that time? A. g 

I didn't ask him anything about the gas bill that month but 

Q Your sister talks to you and her mother and all the 

family with her lips doesn't she? A No, sir; by signs. 

so, and she has been doing that fo 

How old are you? A. Seventeen. 

How many children have you? A One. 

How old is she? A  Ten months old. 

This deferdant here was living at your house, 

about seven moatbr., 



ien t that so? AL Yes,. -sir., 

Q .This defendant worked on the dock ”With•yOu 

didnit he? A Yes, sir.. 

Q lent that so? A Yee„ sir, 

Q He used to work sometimes all night?"A-Yee 

Q In the day time he was at home? A Yee, Sir.. 

Q Imn,t that scndAring those seven months? A Yes,sir'. 

Q, During that time Annie was home all day? A Yes, sir 

Q On many occasions during that time you left her me. 
house with him? A I did not. 

You went out, your mother went out, your iluebancl. Went 

out to do something., and he was left with her Many t4Mes dur-, 

ing thJEe seven months? A No, sir; we never left him aLOne. 

Q .You stayed in the house all the time/ A Irepl oirv 

never stayed in the house all the time, but I never leftHiler 

with him in the house alone; I always left her alone 14th 

my little brother; not with him. 

Q But she has been there for little periods during e. 

day? A I don ,t know when I was gone. 

A You were gone? A Yee, sir; I went to work. 

Q Do you work? A I am working now; I. wae not working at 

that time. 

You had been working during the last year off nd 

A Nos, Jr; I wasn,t working Last year; I had been working 

• about two monthB,Dthat all. 

Did rolit WO '1k? k A Yes;'sir; she worked. A ' ' '  



. Q, Where did she work? A ;In Tand street. 

Q How long did she work there? A About three, 

months. 0 

Q Doing what? A Cutting flags. 

Q Now, as I understand it during the time. that this de-

fendant was rooming there there was your husband, yo self,. 

child, your mother and Annie,. and the two children and this 

defendant and another boarder in that house, anYbody ase mi 
then? A No, sir. 

_Q Now, then', about the 17th of November,-- how do you  

fix it to be the 17th of November?A Well, I know the date. 

Q. What day of the week was it? A I don't knoNtlialOM day 

, it , was of the week. 

Q How did you come to select the 17th day of floveiber as 

the date., how do you fix it? A Well, I know it was the date 

the 17th of November. • 

Q As .a matter of fact, this defendant left your 

on the 6th Of November? A He left the  6th of November, 
if 

Q You knowhe left there then and  it could not be. 04 

the 17th, could it? A He 'left after -this happened. 

. Q After it happened? A yes, sir. 

Q Well, how do you fix the 17th of November? A eoase 

. it was that day he left us, the 17th of November. 
• 

What • means have you of fixing the date? A fixed it-



have you any way of fixing,it e 

cept your statement of it? A Because I know it was t4at'clats, 

you know what day.the other brother-in-law  of this,. 

defendant who was boarding thdre left your place? A 'He left 

my place before I moved into Grand street.. 

Q, . Before you. moved? A• - Yes, sir. T. 

Q When did you move? A I moved on the first of December.. 

Q, 'He left the day before? A yes, sir. 

Q, 8o he was there during the month of November? A Yes,.. 

Q, Is that right? A The brother-in-law-- - 

(1 The brother-in-law was there at the time-  had left -

there at the time she claims that this thing happened?  

•Isn t that .right? A Yes, sir. 
• 

You knew where this defendant had his place of busineis 

this little coal business? A Yes, 

Q, He was rrestod there wasn It he? A Yes, sir 

Q, He had that place at the time he was living there 

Q Do yeu remember the day when he was arre 

ay fp ro New Year o; it wa he last of C 

:,1t1t uf Deceilber? A 



mation after this defendant left your place that be hap', sexual 

intercourse with your sister, how long after that? A A month 

words, the first intimation thit:t you got 

that there was any sexual intercourse between this defendant 

and your sister was fifteen days after he left, ist, that right?' 

living there with 3cumother, is that rioht? 

And our husband? A :Yes, sir. 

Q It was not until fifteen .clxys fter he left 

the information, is that right? A Yes, sir. 

MR.SULLJVAN: Did your Honor allow the evidene 



da.1.000. 
(St s*nst 

Q It was not until after you had discovered, that she was 

going to have a baby or that she was pregnant that this char 

of sexual intercourse came out, isntt that so? A Yes', sir. 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

You can understand what your sister says bY h r 1#01 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you mean you could look at her lips, and under-

stands what she says? A Yes, sir; I can understand. She 

makes signs by the lips, only a few words she says by the 

lips. 

• Q But nearly all of her talk. is by signs? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is there any word she can say by hei' lips alone withou 

using the fingers or hands? A No, sir; she.doesntt Say much 

'by the lips. What she says she says by the hands. 

Q Those are the only things that you can understand? 

A yes, sir. 

Q Had you ever seen that Sign before? (Illustrating) 

A No, sir. 

Q Did you ever ask anybody what it meant prior to tht.' 

,did you ever ask anybodykwhat it meant prior to the time When 

the defendant as arrested? 

Objected to; objection sustained; exception. 

Q Do you know the signof a kiss when you see it? A She 

gave me the sign of a kiss. 

D0fl know Th agn of 11.1 kisee? A No, sir. 



Do you knovt what sign would sgy kiss to.your Sistex4 

sign language? A This way (illusirating) 

When did you learn that? A She learned it to met 

Q She taught it to you/ A Yes, 

Q That is not the sign your sister made you? A YesIsir; 

she gave me that sign like this, and she did like this (11-

a kiss", I didn‘:t understand the 

THE COURT: She can show you the sign. 

THE COURT: You understand this is not corroboration 

of the complainant. It is permitted merely to rebut the'mt 

ence that this woman did make a complaint that she had teen, 

Corroboration must be from some other Source thain 

Grant street home that this occurred? A How long 

yes. A :After we moved from Grand street? 

Q, How long was it after this transaction occurredtha 

you came  back in that room, yid when your sister gave' yotithis 

sign that you left Grand street? A It was-- she gave me this 

sign right after, the same day that he was there. 

Q, How long a1t that was it that you left Grand street 

and went to Elizabeth 43treet 



Row, , do you know when, your sister had her lo.enOtrual 

nod prior to the time when she gave you this sign 

THE COURT: I will alio* it. 

MR. SULLIVAN: I take an exception. How can she, fi 

iine by that? ' 

THE COURT: It maybe some evidence that some one 

tercoura& with her. ' 

MR. DeFORD: I am trying to show that she was ac-

MR. De FORD: I can fix the time by that. 

THE COURT: I will allow it for that purpose. 

MR. SULLIVAN : I take an exception.. 

Q, Did, you know when your sister had her menstrual period: 

just prior to the time this transaction occurred? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that as incompetent, inrr 

material and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: I will allow it for that purposes to fix. 

Q, Do you? A Well, she was taiting for--

Q, Do you know when she had her menstrual period last -time 

prior to th,: time when this thing occurred? A She had it befoze 



Q How ,long before in November? A About three aayS. 

Q About three days before? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did your sister prior to this time eve' keep

to; objection overruled; exception'. 

Q, Now, when your sister failed to have her.menetxual POrit 

do'd for about fifteen days, you say? A Yes, sir. 

Q 1ow after this occurrence you made a complaint against 



MR. DeFORD: I askeci,her if it was not ,a fact that. 

her sister did not have her menstrual period immediately 

thereafter, and want to find out what now how she 

Q Did you examine your sister after this occurred abOu 

two weeks after it occurred? A Yes, sir; fifteen days. 

Q Had You passed her menstrual period at that titile?..A 

sir; she had passed it, nothing after that. 

THE ODURT: Objection sustained. 

physical condition of this complaining witness fIfteefl 

days after this occurred when this woman6xamined her fOr 

the purpose of ascertaining whether she had had her period 



THE COURT: This witness is not a u4dwife:. You have 

her testimony as to the period. 

MR. DeFORD: I am asking her now about a Subsequent 

THE COURT: That is not going to fiic the time. 

month or six weeks or four weeks4.,_ ,That does k 

MR. DeORD: I am doing the best I can with this case. 

understand that, but it is not material. 

What you have got to do is to have some corroboration of 

the complaining witness's story. Of course, you Understia 

that the testimony of this little boy :is not corrobora-

tion. There must be sworn testimony. That boy's testimony 

MR. DeFORD: Well, we don't need corrobor 

far as assault is concerned,. 

MR. DeFORD: As far as assault is concerned, assatilt 

in the second degree'? 

THE COURT: Yes, as far as assault in the second de-

MR. DeFORD: Corroboration as to that. We don't 

corroborsition under the fourth count in the indictmen 

THE COURT: But you have to show that he  had sex 

intercourse with her. That is the material thing. 



MR. DeFORD: I have got to prove that. 

D R.MYR0N L.  M 0 R R IS, a withess called On behalf of 
the People, being duly sworn, testifiedas foll6w0: 

(The witness states he is attached to Bellevue Hospital...) 
'L 

T DP INATION BY MR. DeFORD: 

You are a practising physician in thds-city? A  y61;1 

Q, Graduate of a medical sdaool? A Yea, sir. 

Q What school? A Bellevue Hospitals Medical OolIege 

Q. Now,. how long have you been in practise') A 'ZINC' years... 

--14t 
Q, Have you occupied any official position in BelleVuq 

Hospital? A Yes, sir., assistant to the house surgeon. 

Q During the performance of your duties eo$ 

at that institution you have had ocpasioncto-itait upon 

girls sitting there on the bench? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that unless the timq if 

Did you make a physical examination 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object. to that. 



December 31,1914? A 'Yes, Six:. 

Q Did you make an exar' nination of :her then? A Y 

Q• State what condition you found then? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

MR. SULLIVAN: In the first place thphphksician do 

not identify the complainant as the girl who was in his 

place the 31st of December. It is also remote. 

• (1 State the condition you found? A Do you Weialt the co mr 

plete physical examination-- I don't remember it but-.-

Q, Can you stae what you remember, anything about th 

condition? A Yes, sir; 3 remember 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that, 

MR. DeFORD:- we can only state what heremembers. 

st at o then what you can remember of the 

' found as the- result of that examination? 

MR SULLIVAN:. I object. -to his reading from any. a*s. 

THE couRT: If hehao ' ny notes that will Tefrps4 



memory he can read -them. 

Q Can you testify from Memory?' A If it is refre shed. 

Q Can you testify from memory now. ?tit .41,00ay your .paPere' 

which refreshes your, recollection. Can you testify from xec• -

Q, Don't you understand that?, A Yes; 'understand.. 

Two hours ago I could not, now I can.. 

Q, Can y2u now? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Can you at this minute testify-, from 

So far ae lif:±Jiory.Kerve$ 7o u., Anse 

as ko what :you found? A Wicd rash all over her body 

and. he re'ain a her .gen.italls; she. had.Si 

ish discharge 'fpern'he.,. 

whet.i. rat HA.c. .;21sh?'A 

Now, what else did 

A No 61.r; we did rict-

;you ze re üak 

vering whether ski 

Q, Makinp; an exrninat ion for the .purpose of 'deter 

whether the uterus had been paint 

Q, Never made such an examinat ion? A No, sir. 



Q Prom the examination that you made can yoU tell hvt 

old that condition was, how long it had lasted? 001,114 

not have lasted More than-- it' could not have been much be-

fore six weeks, it could not have taken place, the innoculati:on 

could not have taken place much before six weeks. 

Q Does that condition indicate to you that six weeks 

before that she had contact with some syphilitic germ, is thalt 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SULLIVAN: 

Q Did the discharge fioii the uterus indicate 

had been penetration? 

. MR. SULLIVAN: I objec 

THE COURT: I will allow 

.A Not necessarilyvno, BiV. 

THE COURT: That 

purpose of proving th 

itndas call d on behalf of th 

beim, duly sworn, testified ac follows: 

(The winess Says she lives at 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY R. DePORD: 

your hUith4nd die?_A S 
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4 Is the complainant here Annie Tenth) your daughter 

A Yes, sir. 

Q How long has she been deaf and dumb? A She waS deaf 

and dumb When she was four years old-- she became deaf an 

dumb. 

Q Through illness? A . Yes,, sir; through illness. 

That sicjnesshad She? A Meningitis. 

Q Were You at your hoMe on the morning of November 17th 

or about that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you talk with the defendant at any time on the 

subject of kissing your daughter? A I asked him whether he kii4s--

ed my daughter, and he immediately left the hoUse when I asked 

him. 

(4 Did he say anything Alen you asked him ' that? A He anz 

swered that "She is mistaken 1 she is mistaken, it can It be me 

Q Then what did he do? A He moved from the house. 

Q Did you subsequently make al complaint against the de-

fendant? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to this as incompetent, imma-, 
• 

terial and irrelevan t 

THE ODURT: I will alloy that if it is a .fact. 

- A We made complaint after he left the house. 

Q Sometime after that? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, when you Spoke to him a:bout kissing your daugh"V 

'Annie, he said 'that she had made a mistake Did you say any  

thing to him about leaving the house did you tell'him he 



„could Stay there, or What did. you .say on that Subject? 

put him out of the house. . 

(4, , What did you say to him? 

MR. SULLIVAN:2 I object to this as incompeten 

evant and immaterial. 

THE COURT: Whatever, she said to the defendant about' 

this transaction., if he made any answer, any con-

versation that they had on this subject matter iS admisSiiq». 

ble. If he did not make any answer it is not .admissible. 

THE WITNESS: I said to him, if you don t leave, the • 

house by tonight I am going to cmake a complaint. about, 

you. 

Q Did he leave? A .He left. 

Q What did he say? A Nothing. 

THE COURT: That evidence is stricken out.It is ..not 

what she said is evidence; it is, what the defendant 

is evidence. He said nothing.  
MR. DeFORD: 

He had something before in the course of the con'T 54tim 

” This .as a part of a running conversation. She accused him of", 

kissing the daughter, and he said, "No, she is mistaken' grid:. 

then she said in the course of :the *amp conversatien she told 

him to the leave the house. 

THE ODURT:. That is not eiiouh. Suppose she told iditY 

to jump over the moon. 

MR. DeFORD: Her telling him to leave the house .was 

part of .he conversation in which he participated. 



in introducing such a conversation is to shour what the 

defendant says. 

MR. DeFORD: Tre left the house. 

THE COURT: Yes. He was ordered out by the, proprie-

tor of the house, but that is not enough. You have got t 

have some tangible evidence. That  is all. I simply suggest - 

DeFORD: At the same time when he wap accused 

of this thing. 

THE COURT: -ge is ordered out. He goes out. That is 

no admission of guilt. 

MR. DeFORD: But there is a part.of the conversation 

that he participated in. The probative value of 't 

matter for the jury. 

THE COURT:There is not any prob tive value to L. IL 

would be error to tell the jury so. 

MR. DeFORD: That is, it has such slight value 

THE COURT: 

ring the risk of legal 'error. 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q Did your daughter ,have her menstrual period 

knoledge after your conversation with the defendant?' 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that as -incompetun) 

relevant and lamaterial. 

.THE cOURT: will alloUt it. 



A No, sir. 

Q, She did not? A No sir. 

Q Not up to this time? A No, sir. 

Q, Now, did you take her to . the hospital? A Before: 

Q Did you take her to `the hospital afterwardelA 

Q What hospital? A 26th street. 

Q, Was that Bellevue Hospital? A 26th stree 

Hospital. 

Q, Did you see the doctor that wits on the stand, there? 

A I did not pay attention. 

Q, What day did yOU take her to Bellevue Hospital, what 

day was she taken there? A I do not remember. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Was it around the holidays, was it Christma$ o 

Year's? A There was no feast. 

Q, Did. you take her to any other hospital? A Nb,o 

Q, Did :roll take anybody else to that hospital? A, NO y 

sir; only that one. 
• ••",.„, 

Q, Your daughter Was the only one you took to the it.OsiiItta 

A Yes, sir. 

MARGARET MALUSSO, aoitness for the 

called. 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q Was your sister taken i.he hospital? A Yes, a v. 

Q About what time? A Abovi. 8 o clo ck in tbe mo . 

What date? A The .":"A 

Mkt 



Q Did you g6 With her? A iq0, 

How do you know she went to the hospital?, 

KR. SULLIVAN: I object to this. 

You didn't go with her? A No, sir. 

You didn't go? A No , sir. 

Did you visit her at Bellebue while she was there?. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q When did you visit her? A Afterthe second day. 

Q, After the second day? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Was she in the hospital then? A Yes, sir. 

Q In bed in the hospital? A- Yes, sir.. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Who was with her when she left your house to g0 

the hospital? A She went by herself in the ambulance. 

Q Did your mother go with her? A N , sir. 

Q The ambulance came and took your sister? A Yes,' sir, 

Q What hospital was it? A Bellevue Hospital. 

Q, Mere? A 26th street. 

Q, And the river? A yes, sir. 

MAR Y V E N T 0, a witness for the people recalled. 

BY MR. DeFORJD: 

Q, Was the defendant here 'brourtt to the Bellevue Hospl-

tal while 'our dau,hter•wao thore? 

MP. SULLIVAN: 1 olljcct to thJs. 

DeFOR,D an, p:o try to show that th 
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. Annie Venton., was  in the hospital, ,and, that the defendant was 

arrested the same day thaS the girl was taken there, and,. he was 

ident if led ,by her. 

THE COURT: You cannot prove any identification., 

MR. DeFORD: Only for the purpose, of establishing the  

identity of the g,ir*,s Annie vento. 

THE COURT: I think there is sufficient proof on that 

subject now. 

MR. DeFORD: If that be So I "will withdraw the que6-

t ion . That is all. 

THE -COURT: Her sister says that she visited' her 

there the secondiday after she went there. 

GIORALDO I? RE T I A, a, witness Called on b•ehalf Cf 

the people being duly sworn and examined through official 

.1-1te•rpreter Mustaki, testified as 2ollotts: 

(The witness states that he lives at 189 Cryst'e streel; 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY n DeFORD: 

Q, Do you know the defendant. here? A Yes, sir, 3 Y 

er- in-law. 

Q• Is he a married man? 

NM. SULLIVAN: I o'bn.oet 1.,c) this, may it please  

Court, as incempnto1 i. rcJ.vant and immater • .4 lie • 

s sue 

THE ODURT:, I f:n.lot. in 0 objeotien. 

Q, When .dit't -., t.( f 

? 



He is married to my sister. 

MR. SULLIVAN: *I move' to strike that- out, 

THE COURT: It is allowed for that purpose on 

MR. SULLIVAN: I move to strike it out. 



Exception. 

A He told me to bring him clothing, bring him some clothes 

What did he say about the charge, if anything? 

I object to that if the 'Court please. 

Objection overruled; exception. 

A He said, I am accused of having had. sexual inte 

Q Did he say whether he had or not? 

Objected to; objection overruled; exception. 

He told me that he knew the ,girl, but that they accus-

tell me thut he had sexual intercourse with her. 

Objected to; objection overruled; except 

Intercourse, 1,ut he saidtithey arrested me for thatus 

Q Mutt did he say about his arrest? 

1/11i. SULL IVAN : I object to that, if. your Honor 

as ineompe tent., 1, relevant e,nd 

A He didn't tell me that because he is ashamed or 



Did he say he was ashamed to tell yOu ? 

will you tell this juY'y what he said to youcii 

subject of the arl'est, whether or not he was guilty f 

Now, I will ask you if it isntt a fact de-

fendant said to you then that hehad lost his head, and had ha 

intercourse with this girl? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. It .is .doe  not re 

late to the charge in this indictment or the date. 

have a subsequent conversation with him 

sa-le subject? A Yes, sir. 

sation -- tell the 

know whether I dia 

conversation .with him 

truth, now? A Ite told rrie that-- NI do nob 

have sexual intercourse with her or not, but 



at he did; 

q„,-The_defendant said, "I think I did"? k Yes, sir. 

Q, Did he tell you what he had, done to. the girl? A 

Q, Did. he, tell you why he didn,t knoW' whether he had 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

THE COURT: I will allow all the, conversation on this: 

subject. Objection overruled,. 

A I do not know whether he had done it or not because 

the defendant was ashamed to tell me. 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

Q (Quest ion repeated) A He would not tell me tecause 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

talk this morning with these two men standing there; just 'a. 

Q, Now, I will ask you if you.didn It tell that man, 

there (indicating Mr. .Fahta,na) in . response to his quest ion 

whether or not Manzello had told you he had had intercourse 

with this dear 'and dumb girl that you answered "yes"? A He d.id 



recolbction. 

• MR. SULLIVAN: I take an exception.., 

A Yes, sir. 

Did he speak in Italian or English?.A In italiitn; 

told him that I know he was arrested for having inttpcourse 

with her, whether he did or not I did not know; he did riot 

tell me. 

DidnIt they ask you if the defendant Manzello 444 pot 

tell you that he had had intercourse with this deaf and dUtIlb 

. girl, and didn't you say -yes? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that . It has been AnSwen,. 

ed already. 

THE COURT: This is as to the other person noi4. 

•A• I told him. yes because .I know he was. arrested .fOr• haV- • 

ing had intercourse with the girl,-- that my brother- rip.l'aw to 

me so, 

Do you know Salvatore Malluso? A, Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you have a conversation with Salvatore malluio 

will amk 7tou if—,:ou'didn't tell Salvatore Mallusb-', 

had maid to 7:ou that he did have intercourse with the .gir10. 

vento? 



district attorney'has a righ 

ion of the witness, and to cross ex-

THE COURT: I think you had better finish your case 

before the defense goes on.. 

MR. DeFORD: I think so too. 

THE COURT: We will have, to adjourn until tomo row 

morning. I dal-let suppose you need any help, if .,you do 

I will sign an attachment for yd.u. 

(The Court then admonished the jury calling their 

attention to Section -115 of the Code of criminalProoed  • -

ure, and adjourned the. furth trial of the , case until to-

morrow, May 18, 1915, at 3.o.ao o'clock.) 

New York May 18, 1915. 

TRIAL RESUMED. 
MARGARET V ILLAV 0 MALLUSO, recalled. 



Gioraldo Prestia? A No, sir'. 

Q Was that witness a room 

Q Was the defendant and the witness the only two persons 

who occupied rooms in your premsies outside of your i'amily?. 
A 

A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. SULLIVAN: 

Q When you left Grand street, you went to. Elizabeth street 

is that right? A Yes, sir. 

How many boarders did you have there? A I didn 't havt 

Q How lany did Your mother have? A My mother didUn 

came here from Galveston? A yes,sir. 

May. 

Was this defendant boarding there before she c 

sir.. 

Was your mother there before she  came? A My adster? 

ck Yes. A They roomed together. 

Q How loni h Vd :,ou been in New York City? A A year in-, 

A year this May A Yes, sir, a year ago this month* 

Q Were you married here? A No, O1;r4 in Galveston. 
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Q, How long have you been married? A Two years in Tune. 
C 

q When you married, _did' you leave home? A, Yes, bir.• 

Q, Up to two yearS you didn it live at home? ,A No, 

-C 0 LUMB A PEP E, a witness called on behalf of the Peo-

ple, being duly sworn, testified as followS: 

(The witness states he lives at 248 Mulberry street 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q, What has been your business during the past year? 
, 

A I am a midwife. 

Were you a midwife during the month of Deombe. 

and the month of January, 1915? A Yes, sir., 

Q,. Are you a licensed midwife? A Yes, • sir. 

Q, How long, have you been' lieenSed as a -midwife 

sue your occupation as a midwife? A Nineteen years.' 

Q, Did, you ever have, occasion to examineAnnie, lie 

girl standing there? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I Object to that, as in 

-relevant and immaterial'. 

. Objection ov, rr uled ; exception. 

A Yes, -sir. 

Q, 'Did you make a physical: exathination• of her body? 

MR. • SULLIVAN: I object to that as incompetent„ 

irrelevant and i:timaterial... 

Objection overruled; exception. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, What parts of her body did you examine? A The nwtur 



parts, in the private parts. 

Did You exaTirle themvaginal the pterus.and the 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Tell the jury what condition you founder parts 

THE COURT: When was this examinatio 

THE WITNESS: I do not remember the date. 

Q How long about? A I do not know. 

Q Was it yesterday? A No, sir. 

BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q Was it before the girl was sent to the hospital? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I 'object to that. 

Q Do you know whether she was sent to the hospita-

MR.,SULLIVAY: I object to tbat.. 

, Objection overruled; exception. 

THE COURT: He is, merel g to fix the t 

A No, sir. 

Q: lou-don'jt know that? A 

Q Was this examina0on'lli.vie lefore or after C.hrist.1 

of 1914? A Before. 

Q Before? -A Yes, riv. 

'r THE COURT:, 

Q How long before, u inol,ki.im,P1 long before? A I dc.) 

not know. 

Q A year before? A 
BY MR. peYORD:.. 
Q Can:t you st te Wrti. i7 n n 0 f ;Lie Tui:)( 1 1914? 



SULLIVAN: I object to that, if thp. go urt 

please, as leading. 

A I do not remember. 

Q How many months ago would you say it . was?-

MR . SULLIVAN; I objec bto that as already answer-

ea

A I told you I did not remember. 

Well, try to remember. . 

I zo t rtnc children. 

Wit 13L the latter par. o •‘• ca,i. 914? 

r 14,0:tior V. 

. MLL IVAN : I obj c I , 1t. • to o inde in t and 

, yMpg ;t: a 

(••.(..)n ovey X(1JLOfl 

J cuit  rQme mb e 

4 ufter Thah 

MR. SULLIVAN: 1o'Hect, u in co mpe ten t 

le van t and imma t e i al f 

Obj ect ion ow rr pt ion. 

A I don , t rememb e r 

MR. De FO RD : We I A 11, fix the date to, an o 

w itne s . 

BY. THE COURT: 

How many t ime s d d. J01). a xam in e her In you' f e  

. SULLIVAN : I j(c( LO . that as in comp ten t 

le van 1  and e . 



can prove the date by Another Ira 

BY TEE COURT: You better call the other witness. $tep aside. 

MAR—GARET VILLARO .MALLUSO) re'called. 

9, Are you acquainted with the withebs Madam Columba Pep 

Q, When was she called to attend her? .A. She Was .called 

y lelore she was.arrested 

The day before the defendant \as ai?-eSted? A Yes)-six 

-ome- to the apartment? A Yes.), sir. 

-uu .illake an examihaL u  Ye.$). 

,(.1) see her, r.cn she made the. 

at all? 

this as entivel. 
not 

She aid she wasr,there, she does flOt. know.. 

DeFORD: , I w unsent that that be striaken out., 

Q, How do you know an ao Lhe'rb? A I was in. the hou6e1, 

hut I was not in the room :ol rho was examined. 



arrested, the 31st. of December. 

THE COURT: Do you wish to -cross examine the witness?MR.

 SULLIVA1 Jo, sir.

 

DeFORD: Does your Honor want any further proof 

the date? 

THE COURT: No. She has testified that she sa* the 

Q you may describe to the juvy the condition that you fOlur 

Upon thc examination of as you have described-, 

object to that as incompetent,. 

ie1evant and :qmato ial having no connection With t1114 

Objection overruled; 

WRB her hmen penotyated? 

1 objcct to that. She de' 

whether s  e had a hymen or not.. 

.Object ion overruled: exce Alon. 



I saw the ovary, that is all I. saw. 

THE COURT:  You mean the ovaryor.the Nvina?, 

THE WITNESS: I found everythngbroken, an I put 

my finger right through. 

Q That do you mean. when you say you found everything 

broken? A All ruined and disgraced. 

' THE COURT; Strike that out. 

Objection overruled; exceptiom, 

THE COURT: Ldonit.think you can ask her -any further 

CROSS EXAM IN AT ION BY ME • SULLIVAN : 

Q, Do I understand: you to say that you found a cord.„Itiort 

to exist there tho.t you would find to exist in the aatgl tif 

married woman? A I don 1t understand you. 

Q, In other words, from the examination you would 

ta the WU'fliirl .1kEtkl aCcUritOMOd to have sexual int ere() v re° 

quen tly? A That I don t know'. 

Q, The condition would show that. 



:Iffe,11, the conditions were Such as yoUr e#Orience woUld 

convince' you would exist in the case of a woman Who had been 

accustomed‘to frequent sexual intercourse? A Vona examined 

her, arid I know she has been penetrated, but how many . 

were you assimed to in the month of Decem-

ber, 1914 and in January, 191? A Detective Bureau, First 

Do you speak Italian fluently? A 1 do. 

At what One and place? .A 1 a -rested him about  

December 1st, at 160, in, front of 160 Mott streetl.I boliovo 

it was Mott street, I got it, in my book. 

Q What was he doing at the time? A Why, he 

in a coal cellar, he wets telivering coal  he was in 'Ialo coal 

17,usiness, ice and coal-. 

w4nleirmtion w4h him ;;iri, 

tine fou arrested himY'A .1 hOiove did at the 

when I arrested him 1 )t he was Urld ex RI' re s , tit) On • 



On-the Way,over. to the Polie0 7eadquarters 

he, Was accused,of doing. 

What did you say to him? A That.he.w 0 accU 0 of-hav-.: 

ing seXual intercourse with Annie Vento. 

Q What did he say to that? 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to that. 

0 11114a;t. 

THE COURT: Whatever the defendant said you may tell 

Objection overruled; 

Exception.. 

THE COURT: Any declaration made by the defendant 

may be admitted in evidence. 

THE WITNESS: He told me he had nothing at aUtO 

do with the girl. 

.Then what did you do? A I had him entered in the blot-

ter at Police Headquarters; I then took him from Police Read7. 

quarters down to the hospital where the girl was; I took hi 

to the bedside of the girl. 

Q You took him to Bellevue Hospital where the complainkW 

-was? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where this rirl was, Annie Vento? A Yes, sir.. 

Q Now did you have any conversation with him ,in her 

q Where did you 1.4itke viw td, .h.om there, !.H:! ;,0HpitaI? 

A j Look him to Police Headrolayters. 

Q, Then where crid Aio 1,im? A Hc wz iO1 ct; 

'In a cell. 



• Q, ',bid you subsequently have a conversation A A I did,. 

from :Bellevue 1-tospital to Police Headquarters. 

Q What was- that conversation? A I told him_that the 

girl had identified him-- and had ident ifiedhjm as having sex-

ual intercourse with her, that he had better tell the truth 

about it., and he told me, going down. in the car, with hilt, 

had sexual intercourse with her, but it was only once, and ;that 

the reason why the complainant said-- that the complainant con-

sented-- and the reason why she consented of him having inter7" 

course with her wasthat she thought he was a single man. 

Q, Is that all he said on that subject? A Yes, sir; that 

is all at that time. 

Q Did you have a subsequent conversation with him ,on the 

same subject? A I took his testimony then in writing at Police 

Headquarters. 

Q Did you have it typewritten? A I did. 

Q, Have you that statement with you? A I have. 

Q Will you prodUce it. A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

(The statement referred to is marked pooplee Exhi14-

1t 1- for. identification.) 

Q I show you paper marked eoplo Is .Exhihi 1 

identifica,t ion, and I a sk you if that is ta. Statomml., 

had w j.Lten and if t c1-4.0-t.I;v 6trnboti. tb 

L.t? A Yes, sir. 



-1—aln net offering .it 116W. 

Q Does that contain the answers to quest iOns put to hix. 

and the answers that he made? A Yes, sir. 

Q I call your attention to a cross mark on the staement 

etweei the words can and write, and then under that cross 
madd 

markthe wordemark of Salvatore Mansell° r: and ask you whether he  

cross mark to bkatement? A Yes, sir.. 

Q And in the presence of what .other persons? A 

Q Did you read to him the contents of that tatornen 

before he made his mark there? A Why, yes, those were the 

questions I had put to him; either I or Detective 

it over aRai.n, and told him what was in it. 

ad those quest ionstahim and lho an we.eS. that . 

made to them, the questions and an were asttbs'y appear on 

-pape-r? A .1 doni t rernertibe:r heth• 1. 

T• De t ect ive vo t; v. e. 

.0ead ov.t.,r to. h 1111. 



understand the Italian language 

Q You say the contents of that paper were read over 

,eforehernade his mark? A Yes, sit; they' Were. 

Q As it appears on that paper? A Yes, sir. 

MR. DeYORD: I offv it in evidence.• 

SULLIVAN: I object to it as incompetent, 

THE COURT:-  I don ,t. think the paper is  admissible a. 

MR. DeFORD;. I think lt is admissible on 

that it is a written declaration of the defendant, 

though written by somebody else. 

THE COURT: It is written in English. Jnde 

circumstances I would rather have you ask him. the _clues 

t ions, and refresh his memory .from, the paper 

Q, 1ow, I will ask u if you. put to  him certain ques-

and if he made to  certain answers in the pre 

1,!. SULLIVAN : t object to that if the Co uit ploaso. 

01) j ect ;1.0 n r v€ I. eel; exer‘pt . 



questions are written,there, and that the defendant answered 

him in Italian, and that those are his answems,---ead that 

that was typewritten, and the paper was signed 

fendant with his mark. I do not think, as a docuMentt 

missible in evidence, but the statements that he made are 

Q Can you remember now the questions that you put to 

him and the answers that he made literally? A Yes, sir. 

Q, If you cannot you may .mfresh your memory. What was 

the first question you put to him? A I asked him. d 

Q Look at the paper, and refresh your recollection, and 

then close it again. A I asked him what his name was, 

"Where do- you  

Q That is the next question? .A "How long have yOu ltn 

giel"? A. About six months. 

Where did you first meet her? A. At 218 Grand st 

When did you have sexual intercourse with her? A. La 

Tre was not sure then whether it. was the latter 

of October or November, 'hut he said in Vovember aboui;. 
; on the '6th 'floor. • 

st -eet 



moved away...and have not seen her sinc6. 

N. Who was the one that suggested the intercoUrse, 

THE COURT: 

drawers, and -I got on top otter"; 

What date was that? 

THE WITNESS: This was made on December 30th4 

t dated there there? A No, sir; it was made the • 

same da;s- of the arrest; the same day of the arrest. 

Mi. SULLIVAN: I move to strike out all  that 'esti,-

mony as incompetent, imaterial and irrelevant.. 

Objection Overruled;. exception. 

Is that all the conversation You had with him on that 

subject? A' That is all. 

. SIJLLIvAN : No cro ss examinat ion 

THE PEOPLE REST. 

MP. SULLIVAN: I move that the Court instruct the .jury 

. to acquit the defendant upon the ground that the evi-

donee which has been presented is wholly insufficient, 

in law, to justify or support the conviction .upen, any polAnt•: 

in the indictment. 

THE COURT: Motion denied; exception. 

M. SULLIVAN: I move that ,the Court instruct the• 

jury now to disregard the testimony of this Dr, BinhaM 

as incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial, and not ad-

deed to the issues in this case. 

ot ion. denied: exception,. 



AkitJ— 11•••-
•"/ 

record the testimony of Dr. •Morris, the witnes$ MorriA; 

which relittA 'to he condition of the woman whom h ex-

amined or claimed to have examined in Belletve Rospital 

as there is no identification, and it is irrelevant, 

competent and immaterial to the issues in this msg. 

W. DeT'ORD: I think his'testimony is competent as 

showinr; the time at which the complaining witness was  

te-r.fered with. 

THE COURT: Pot ion denied. 

SULL11A.N: I take an exception, to your HUnor. 

ruling. 

THE ODURT: I will cha7e the jury that the fact 

that she had according to his testimony, soinesyphilitio 

affection was not proof that she had sexual intercdUrSO, 

but that it was a circumstance. They may consider.hiO, 

statement as to the time when that srphilis was probably 

acqui-ed in his ppinion, and that may be taken into con-

sideration in connection with all the other testimony on 

the subject. 

M.711LI7AN: I move that the Court take from the 

consideration of the jury the first count Of the indict .-

merit %Ipon qe fy-ound that there is no evidence sufficient. 

in law,to submit that issue .o the i 

TITN notion denied; exception. 

. LIv : I -love %he CoUrt take from the 

convideration of ,he jury e second count of the India 



They will take up the assault charge 

ey -find that a rape was not committed, or arl atteirip t- • 

MR. SULLIVAN: I take an exception to 

-MiL, 'SULLIVAN: I understand .that the district a 

DeFORD: I have not abandoned ditay.. I Statd to the s1 

jury that I would rely upon both of the 

•-described one ,rather than the others. 

TEN. ODURT: I think I will submit the, whale 

I am Fro inp: to make a motion 

frwl the consiOeration of the jury the third co 

to justify its submission to the jury. 

TES Co : Pio t ion den led ; except ion 

R. SULLIVAN: I move the Court Lo take froim the O 

sideration of the jury the ..fourth c unt in he indiotiër 

pofl he g7.ounc that .11. 



— 

• support or justify, the submission of. it to 

Motion denied; exception. 

/M. SILL IVAN i I move that the Court compel the 

-district attorney to elect Upon Which count he shall gO 

to the jury,, 'anct upon that proposition I would like the,: 
.-

teourt to hear rme for a moment, if 'your ,Honor please. This' 

case Roe,C_ to the jury-as' a saw proposition. The 

fendant does, not know where he sta,fids, force oro fordo 

The theory on one sode of the prosecution is that there 

was force used . Now where they fail upon that they take' 

up another proposition that there was no force necessary,' 

but there was inental weakness. Now,.the People 

practically irreconcilable theordes, and the defendarit has 

Fot to sustain the burden of both in his defense before 

this jury. It seems to me that where the theor*es.,ot the 

prdsecut ion inconsistent and so. incompatible that they 

'equire he abandonment of one or the other of the counts 

in any rational explanation of  the situation,: and' the c1.6,-

fendant should not be put, in such. ,foepardy in a case 
what 

this that he does not knot/the issue presented' to 'the; 

COURT: I will deny your motion. 



S A 11 A T 0 11.4'M AN Z I 1, 0, the defendant being du 

sworn in his owns behalf, testified through n-

terpreter Mustaki as follows: 

(The witness states he lives at 167 Mott etre.et.) 

DIi.'ECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SULtIVAN: 

Q, How long have you lived in the city? A Thirteen months 

Q, Where did you come from? A Italy. 

Q, Vilh.at have you been doing since you have been here? 

A Longsho Tema,n. 

Q, Longshoreman? A Yes, s ir 

Q, There have you been living? A I was at first7 

last address. 

Q Where have you lived since you have been here for the 

last thirteen months? A Third avenue and Mott street and Mott 

'street again, and then I lived with these people here. 

Q, How long have you lived, with them? A roux month 

a, half. 

Tune . 

When did you go to live with them? A On the 15th of' 

What year? A 1914, 

pour tontho and a 

went to live with them was. this p;irl, Annie 

Vent° there? A No, .sir. 

Q, When did she, come there? A .Fifteen days after. 

Q, Now, do you remembe when you left, what time iti. the 

month it was, what day of,. month it was when you left that 



the mOnth af Irovember..-

month, do you remember? „A About the 

You remember the occasion she testified to about your 

having intercourse with her in that flat, the last time? At Yes. 

Q, Now, will you tell the jury what happened there in your 

way? A Fifteen days after 

caqie in that houseshe Started fooling with ma, and I didn 

care to fool with her because I didn't wish to fool with h 

Then a few days afterwards she started on making love with th& 

and I was makinr: love with her s to .the in-

Well, of her -own Voluntary will she caMe uid me .anet 

wante.d to have sexual intercourse. I did not force,her; 

'did not ask her for it at all. Then four montl]P tfterwardo, 

I went to .fry some liver in the house, iid when I was frying- • 

the liver why she was there with her two brot)ers, anu hc Was' 

in ,he  own roo.n, and I was in my room. While I Aas• flying the 

side of the stove, and the sister came back five minutes,  

sister came. When the sister came with some meat 

•

 

she. said, "Look at that mich nleat for twenty cents". Well, 

errthinp; is very dear, I bought• some liver too ,xid - 
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'everything has gone up in price". The little boy was there, and 
e 

e said, "Have you got a penny". I said, "Yes, here is a'pennyw, 

4nd 1 gave him a penny. Then I left half the liver there, and 

took half the liver, and I went to my business. At four 

versing with her sister, and then I went back to the basement 

a half an how' after that and then I went back to the house' 

at 8 o 'clock. And then, the following morning) I went tO 

work, and then at half past seven I went to the house ana aske 

if they wished any coal, and theysaid, "Ye B, bring ten 'cent s 

Then the mo tiler says ' do T ind nir dfil Ugh 0 

crying" . She called the sister, and, 1 said, "l)id you' see 

sister crying , and •thytaid "Yes", tth 0 !;Ftp4 , "She .;,olo 

done 30  17M1,0 I,i " o , did no "a When 

(:omp16,inan:t , ;71,nd 1 said 

ç.() -1.11v Iid), f_ow?lainani, hr finger '•ke 

Which means i Then they t 01(4 ',Oe • to. 

i:o use , anCy afte r d inns the :house'. 

vut hands on this womac 60,mplAinpa 

Ii r„.,1.)( I;rldro ot and . put yo ur aand 1r" " 

Ho,. sir; she came voluntav ily 

u ritay d the. e on that n igh t was Anything' said'' 

Li, you, 0 Then ,you .11 3 ed the place in i;he mo ining was ao y 

;zip fiti iM ju about this matter? A No, S.:1.r:: nothing at art.. 



What was said about your kissing the .g 1,1'1? A They 

said "Why do you kiss my daughter". 

Q, is that what they. maid. When did you see that girl? 

A The following morning 

Q, That is the morning that 4You left? A Yes,, sr, afe 

dinner that same day. 

Q It is a fact that the talk that they had with you a 

that time was about your kissing the girl is that  

Q , Now, were yell alone With this girl? A I had f.:3 e 

t e roourse with he r more. than fifteen times. 

Covrin hat r"ftocl? A From 'July till November. 

Q, tid 0 fo roe her? A - No , sir; never 

Ware la t ? A AlWay. - 17: he same 

.A;  

: 

, WIRN Fi38 Never  

\TAO 

evpv neeher crying? A 

Q, • Was she g the mo-n in g vhen ou 1ried 1vev, 

and her was there was she crying. then? A Nt..) 

D (.7.yc u cr r boar this woman, Ann V en to talk in g  

her mothè', hwv-ing n y quarrel with her mother? A Yes , 

Q, Do you know -whether she can scream? A Yes sir; whow4''.1 

ever she was mad with her mother she would scream. - 

Q,• Well, how far away could you hear it? A Up to the tY'41. 



fleorlbebauae the, aParttentS are very oldse togethe 

Q How many faialies live on a floor? A nve.' 

Q, Will you show us now about how lowl he oall'dOpeaM 

you have heard her (witnessillustrates by screaming). 

Q Did :ou hear her do that many times? A: es, sir; 

they used to have different quarrels, the mother and brother 

and the sister, and she Used to get mad. 

Have you syphilis? A No, sir. 

Did you at any time use any 'Throe or violence or 

threats of any kind to obtain sexual intercourse with thi.Ei 

Q, Can you understand th:i.s woman by her signs 

How does hc express her elf ordinarily, in the hous 

to.he  ieiberi o 

• hPr fingers . 

fam ify , :hi whay what form A •WM 

tout her lips? A Yes sir; sometimes -01.4:6 the 

ro 00)c up d.n re.1 t on f3 14). "!' " 

;Ir ti fJ.t whc n yo U w) :r0 .r;• ••111 t.f1 her? 

hAve been hers up wit j 3.Oath 

t — when' u 'were wopi-



During that time were you and she frequently -alone 

CROSS EXAVIVATION BY MR. DeFORD: 

Q When did you leave Italy? A The 15th of October. 

Q Where are 7-our wife and family? A In Italy.. 

Q Where_doeS your wife live On the .Via. 

Q In what city? A Portambeno, Province of Giungenti. 

How many children have you? A 

Have you ever been convicted of any offense in Italy? 

When did you first meet Annie 

day of the month of June. 

Q 'When did :'ou have your first act of Se.xuaA. inte 

course wj th her? A The month of Tuly. 

Q, Emu long after you became ac4uainted, with her? A 20 

(4., 20 days. after? A yes, sir. 

0 Where did this .act occur?, A In her own mbtherrs hous 

Q. What room was that? A There ?ere four rooms there 

Q, Was t fls second, roi fro l t;ho kitchen? A yes'osir. 



Who was present? A 110 one. 

Where were the two boys? A They were on the roof. 

Where was the little boy? A Ai that time. there was no 

as it, what hour of the day was it?  A • 10 

ere anybody in the apartment besides Annie an. 

,vere ',rou working then? A 34th street.. 

Who for? A Giovanni DeMauro was my bo ss. 

You were working for this 

You said it occurred in the month of AUgust, 

Yes, sir, about July, August, September and r)ctobe. 

That does he :nean by that? A The first time. lost'vrosn ' 

(); Was- it he latter part Of July or the first part. o 

.August that you had .this .first act of sexual intercourse 

her? A Either the end of July or the first of 

Q, Who wn'e,.rou working for then? A. 34th 

Nell, who .for? A Giovanni DelTauro. 

Q, What number on 34th street? A No.7.4. 

work in the day:or night time? A. Sometimes 



did 7/011 work at night? A Two, or  three days we were -working irr 

the day time, then we will have a rest and then work again ,two  

Q, How did you come to have sexual intercourse with .Annie 

Vento, the first time? A She was fooling with me and-; was, 

foolinr7 with her, and that is the way I had sexual inter 

Q, Did she commence fooling with you or did  you commence' 

ng with her? A She started to fool with me!. • 

Q Did she corrrnence to fool with you for thefirt time 

Q Where was herlgother then? A In the faotory.•.• 

Q All.of them gone? A Yes, ;3 

Did :.cou work the- night .before 'A yes, -sir.. 

Thut time did you get through work? A Five O1C1QC 

Where did you have your breakfast? A in th6 house 

In the house? A Yes, sir. 

Who gave it to you? A The married daughter. 

Q' Then w long after was it that you had your break 

ht, f.31, •,IV ' h.o ntrcourse with Annio. tiJ 

u? A She was mak in V' iytg, 4exutt 



"Why don et ybu do- that to me", 

Q, Where did you learn about the deaf and ctUmb -larlgUa..ge? 

I was practicing With her.. 

You had known her about fifteen days at that tirnê,had 

you? A I was practising from that time on with her. 

You had known her about fifteen clays at that time, is 

the question Answer . the question. A The sister taught me hoW 

to make he signs of the deaf and d =ID . 

Q, Didsister speak to u what the sign was for Sexua3. 

intercourse? A No, sir. 

Q, Who taurTht you that? A She, h.erSelf. 

Q, Had she ta up,ht • you the sign before she. used it on the 

lair t1-'.t :you had sexual in terco ur se with her? A Yes, sir. 

Q, When— how long after you first met her? A At that 

irne we were together with her. 

•

 

Q. When vias that, how lonp before this day?. A: When 

Q When that, 1onp7 after you first met her, h 

rrr da7s-? .A About t,.-enty days. 

k?`1'€; f•,rou met heir? 

Vte. 3 &I:0 0 Lit • t'.,:enty da ym after you first. met hr 

e h her for he first time 11.9..sn it it.?• 

J'E, • 4. au 'ht r,'.)n WhLt• th i irn oai.t at the t:km 

witl% her, is th.t.t correct? 



tell you 'hat the sign (leant, what did 

do, what. did she do to you? A (Witness indicating) She 

says, You ar o±ald,7.rou are trembling". She made the E4n 

with 'both her hands lake that ( indicating \ you „are. afra..id and 

then she put her right arm under her side (witness indicating) 

'.ow did she sa7 "You are afraid, ahd you are ..tembling', 

did she point to you, and then do this (illustrating) A

When did she tell you the ,nean inn; of the .sign: so that 

vou could tell the :jury a little while ago that she made, the 

sip,n of sexual inrcourse to you; when did she tell you. that 

that meant sexual in ':,ercourse? A While she was foaling with 

0, The other sirr,n tht.t rou iade (Witness' illustrates). 

There was a red cover ovi the table, and she pointed to that 3M• 

cover, alLi she says, "I want you to. make me produce some o.tI2 

When did, she teach to :nake 1:•hat sign that yol ma 

ho -t t. J.me tat is the B r;r1 , when did sht.: show yo:u. 

. A While we were tor,ether. 

thotsirn arrain for 

s . this I... ime j,k0 
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vinriar/010....1.511.1...argORTV...1.1.111,1, 

Q Didn't 

question that ,the sign that she made was a sign from the'l'ipo_ 

and putting your finger through there (iilustratin )? A 

sir He . He says that is what I did (witness .iliuStratee)•" 

Q, Will you say you did not make the sign awhile ago. 

when telling me the sign that the girl made to you like  thie:. 

(illustratinc). 

A No, 

Q, You understood from this aCt ion of hers that she 14E11'064 

to have sexual inl,ercourse with you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Had you intendedprior to that time to have sexual. 

course with her, if she would permit you? 'A o, sir. 

You didn't' want to have sexual ,interaurSe with her, 

did you? A No, E.;ir. 

'Q. You knew she was a deaf and dumb girl, ..didn(t. .U? 

A yes, sir. 

Q You would never have said anything to her about h ing 

sexua7.1 intorcourse if she Itadn It—approached you? A YeS • 

put it into your head did She? A ..Y.0 Ei sir. , 

.h Lici it by making the sign you have described-, tia7 
ri-m wanted you to make come ow: of: .1-i.or the color  

( *int h .hatj5  correct? A 



•  Q Did you repulse her or did yT) -p 

A Yes, si ; I repulsedher.',-

t her 

Now many times did you' tepulse her befOre 012 yielded?' • 

A About_ four times. 

-Then you finally yielded, did yOul'A Then I _lost 

head, and I done it. 

Q Did you repel her four times on this One day?. A 

sir; three times the first dayl 

Q, Was the door locked to the apartment? A Open. 

Was it locked then? A No, sir. 

Q; It was not locked that day? A No, sir. 

Q, Did she take You to her bedroom? A She b °Ugh 

the bed of her mother. 

Q, That is the room she occupied, asnit it? A Ye 

q Did she always 'take you there when she. had inter-

course with you? A Sometimes • in my room. 

Q, Did she always approach you, and ask .yoU for the in-

tercourse after that or did you go with her? A. SOmetimes I 

would ask her, and sometimes she would.. 

4 iiow often did .1-rou have intercourse with her from that-

time up 1)d-it :11 • the time of '/our arrest? A More  than fifteen_ 

t Imes 

Q, Nov:, when did you 7-0 into the coal business for yoUrasi 

Yrom tic. thyirL I arrived- from ,Italy. 

Wh, n it that you were workinP„ Jo hit, other Tian . 

t -- A No I sir; fmn iirdie I oarilo from 



in business for yourself fitm. the time 

cne from Italy? A I used to to rk for a bo swase 

to work for myself, that is the way I 'Vier' t on, 

Was there a time when you vvorked for 3rourself, and 

0, In the day time? A Yes., sir. 

Q What time in the month of October., did you go. to wolic•• 

for yourself? A About the 6th of October. 

How many times did you haVe 'sexual *inte 'course with 

Annie Trento during the month of October?' A • Five times. 

Q, Where, in her room or your room? A In My 100111-• • 

Q, What time? A Ten o'clock in the morning:or eleVen 

o'clock in he morning. 

Q, 'After te, family were all gone? A 

on viha.t ddy as .it that you.had. this last act 

intercourse with her?. A. The 5th of 'Novenfoer. 

The-hth of November? A Yes, sir. 

)-Tow• ion,- had it been then since you hc.d an act of 

• tercourse w:ith her; how long 'before the trrie had you had saii•Ami: 

of intercourrie with her? A Four or bciorc. 

At. "tile tuVM(4. holly? A " !vg 



on this morning-- or when rou say that On this 

morning of the 5th, that being the day that you fix-  you had -

work, hadn't you, about 5 o'clock? A Yes, sir. 

What time did you return from your work? A At 

you return from your work at 8 o'clock the firs 

you been there to leave coal befo 

you leave the apartment about five° 'clock and re-

0, When did you deliver the coal?. A 8 o'clock,, 
De-PORD: • 

Q, When yo.0 left the coal there was the. mother 

sister Tk'Tarra,ret there ,wete they?A Yes 

Q, ow long did you stay there then? A About • five miw-

Had you had hour breakfast then? A No 

What tine 

o'clock at nicht? A Yes, sir. 

n did ou have 1n4;ercourse with 



Q, I asked you when you came back after .ybii.1-170:11770±6 

at 8 o'clock? A I. left .in the ;'norning at 5 •o 'clock talat 

and I came back at ten. 

Q, Now, you left the house at 5 o'clock, 

back at 8, and then -vent away, and. then Came back at tefl. 

e morning at 5 o'clock, and I ca 

Q Was it after you got back at ten o 'clock that yolX had-

inte-cou.rse• with hr? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How long ,were you alone with her after you got-, back 

at ten o'clock? A Five or ten . minutes. 

Q, Di you go back there at that time for the purpo 

of having intercourse with her? A No, sir; Iwent.tbere to 

Did she apTiroach yo ,•,, and ask you to have 

Dia you ask her? A No, sir. 

ou do in in rour room? A 

I was chanvinit at that Lille my underwear. 



off in the room, when She came in the 

Q, You had nothing 

room. 

Q, When did you Ftive the boys the pennies? A The sister-T.. 

when the sister came she asked me for a penny to buy some vin-

Q You didnLjt give the boys any pennies at all thaU mornr 

ing? A No), sir. 

0,, How long were you  undressed in your room that morning? 

A Five minutes. 

Q, Was the door of the 

CI

 

From  the outside or 

Q, it was locked then? 

Q, Was the door to ,l,our room locked? A No') si 

Q, ..Did you take off your underclothes? A No,, sir. 

Were the little boys there at that time in the • aPartf: 

ment? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Where 14ere they? A In the room of the mother. 

Who put them there? A They were there playing) Idont 

to undress? A I heard. them laying, but I dont know whether 

they were there otinot.. 

Q, Did 7ro u 4tya little while ago that they ',Ier,€) on th 



roof? A On the last day they vere in.the apar men 
/. 

Q, Did you tell me before they were on the roof? A •Only: 

at that beginning when I had sexual intercourse they vtre oIl 

Q, °Did you put them in there? A No, sir. 

Q, Did you ask them to go in there? A No, sir. 

them any pennises; did you give each. 

Only to buy a penny's worth of vinegar. 

Q Did you give them any pennises that morning before their., 

sister came back, when you were there alone with Annie? A No. 

Q Wa the door to the room in which they were ShUt or. 

open? A Everything was open; it was n 

Q Was the door between the kitchen and your  room open? 

Q, Anything to prevent the boys from coming from their' roOm 

ur root? A When I was having sexual intercourse 

Did you lock it this 'day? A. No, sir. 

Q, How long after you had sexual in t,ercourse.vvith the 

girl was it, before her sist,er came back? A In ten minute 

Where • :as Ann ie when the sister came in? A She wa.a 

• seatedin front of the stove. 

Q: Seated in front of the ertove? A -Yes, sir. 



• Q, You did not dress untilaf1ryou had int=èrcburwith 

Annie that day? A Yes, sir; I • dressed myself afterwards. 

Q, So. that you had dreised and gone out into the front 

room- within ten minutes after you had intercourse With he 

that correct? A Yes,, sir. 

Do you know Charles Prestia? A Yes ,.. sir; he  is 

brother-in-law. 

• He roomed with you, didn t he? A' Yes., air. 

Q, Did you send him to Mrs Vento to offer her 'some. 

money to • keep this thing out of court? 

S'ULLIVA.N object to that • as ineompetent 

im.materia 1 and irrelevant .-

Object Jon ovoruled; exception'. 

A No , 

Q Didn  

an offer 17( 

• .1!, .01AN object to th1 i inoomptent, 

) le V61, nt and impr opev. 

A hr• u iv; I did not. 

You vtold he r any such i.11 ingr A No) sir; I an) 

locked up: o there. 

Q, Tne veot ;on is dick :vou hlio to go to t‘crs. irento ? 

A No I sir. 

Q, Jici 1ie te LI you that he bud been to Iti'r and 

o fe red he, Hum of money for you? . 

. LI"AN: I obiect to his. 



as incompetent, immaterial and irxelevant.', 

A That has always been my complexion. 

Q, I call it a ra2h Let the y see the side.o:r 3ott.-

(viitne3s turn ,3 the side of his  face to the piwy. 

Were you tal( in r, F.4 ny medicine for blood tra1Lb4i . 

ou were at '1"rs Ve,nto house? 

Obje:d 'objection overruled. Itxhapt ion* 

Yet; or 6Sed to take akihd 

„10.20136 of stoppinc, perspiratiop becauee• . 

ih.g when the 43 i • came  

; •ritI OU h ad. in te r co ur Pe? tb hti rt? A ...N. 

t ta I that the ViWOM. 

he,(1. LkCQ‘;!irly' s iflter was 'cry 11,4  ,A the day 

after the 71,-, chef riaid"wh:,.r did I mak. I Id. o'ry't 

rr 1111 r said that t 6.4y? A Yee, ir 

Did t!qo sister say it to xi'u fri.. y? A lin  

0. 11u Vie other s is I.. ;‘,T..1.; 7.1 y thiztt Annie 



had told her you had done her bad? A No, &ir 

Q Didn't you testify to thatiawhile'agO? A NO sir. 

The mother told you that kin le had told them that Y 

had done bad to her that day? A No, sir. 

RE DIRECT EXAM IN AT ION , HP . SULLIVAN: 

Q, After you left the place on Grand street where you 

were livinv, with these people you continued to hive you  place 

o busine so n Hott !I tree t at the time of your arrest A 'Yes 

sir; that is where I Wa 13 placed under arrest . 

Q, Now e co n ih; a t n that you had with the sister and 

the Trio the r Kb° lit Arw I( Via, El • t the time of your :I-14E1st want 

it? A No • I .'i.estedtwo months a ft e r.. 

MR. SULLIVAN : i y0 'Ur Ho no r .go in', to take re ego. 

now? 

Pre sc ia 

VAN : _Pre Sc ia 

Co '1.01: You call him •tne 

TVAN : Yes :I !Tt1:1.1c r j111 Yn,y witness. 

R E U T T A L. 

n . HI1GHAMlaw:itn(,:.f fof tliePeople, re-

001 Jou 

1.1Y P. DeFORD. 

Q, Did you make an examina t ion oj. he pr a.t e parts of 

the irl Annie 'Tonto when she was at the institution? 

• FVULL IVAN I o1jat to r, ha t as irrelevant, imma-



0. 

4. 

.111.,[11.01. 

ial and too remote. 

Q Well, now, did you make an examinatio of t e vagina 441. 

the uterus? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Will you toll the jury whether or not •yell wer able 

to form an op in ion from that examination as to whether the -

girl hao submitted to repeated acts of intercourse? 

72, . SULLIVAN : I object to that. 

THE COUP I sustain the objection. You 

tell that., 

- THE WIT. N !ISS Yo u can. 

DeFORD: She says she can..  

De,TR) RD: 

Q, When wa 1lir c Ram iimt ion made? J The 30th of Apr 

1915. 

'1.h 0i..Lor „r .1915? A Ye  

r r,(:( rT : 

•••)L t ).7..  

1.1,11d the hymen rupt, 

: Yes, sir. 

::!..ebtro yea? A Yes s j.3' 1.•  '40 ryi 

thl'ce t • 

Q It d hucin t ?A'1,4!(.7!".i i , 

• 171 

Q. Could,. .1,,c) y whotber it had hest. in.:1141..e.t; 

r an old pone t.1 F-t r? A Well, I s ho ti3.6 ' 'ova m er.4Old 

pene t rat Jar" Li,nd ht the ptrts hact com ../ t, ger,-



4,111.-.., .106,44 4.61:1 wirvistr. 

tainly was'n t recent. 

BY MR. Dh FORD: 

Q Now, have you any maps of determining  from exam-

ination of the private parts of a female whether a woman 

submitted to repeated acts of sexual intercourse, or ie it pos-

sible to tell from the appearance in the case of a Woman who 

has repeatedly practiSed sexual intercourse? A Between Ahat at 

"one who has been practising it once or twice? 

ME. SULLIVAN: I object to. that. 

Q What is the.difference?-

gR. SULLIVAN: That is the phyeiCal examination c) 

April 30th. 

Q Will you Rtat tAe difference? A W 11 in case 

where intercourse has taken place repeatedly there is w 

consido.t 'wed,tppeavance of the vagina, that is the mu,- t  

cous iienib  is sumewhat roughened;. it has not sMooth 

pearance W.!ic1 i found in the virgin or one who has praettSed 

Jfl1f  (:,,v)ii,ratively a few times.. 

,ffIcribe the appearance of the yagina. when 

1.71Le. had one or two-i;iMes -A 'Well, there is 

o't.hoi 1nKtira mucous liembrane is'smoother. 

-xairdnat iofl that you have made of the part8 

•or ALP You able to express an opinion as,to.wheth 



Limmo .16 mart .1,tet qqt. .litt,t,moktt  

er she had Sulatitted to frequent s of in Grcourse oz few 

or to one? A Yes, sir; I 

Vhat.is.youropinion on that'subjedt? 

R. SULLIVAN: I .object to that if .the OOUTt please: 

as incompetent, immaterial and irrelevant. 

Object ion overruled.; exception. 

A My opinion is that she had not had  repeated acts of 

intercourse. 

PY THE COUPT: 
• not 

Ybu could/tell whether she had any .intercoune o. 

A She was pregnant. 

I mean apart from that .by the condition of the vagina? 

A Why, yes. 

You could say whether there was one penetration WhiCh 

all?A Well, isn't that synonymous? 

Any other...object would penetrate the hymen Without 

xual inGercourse, any blunt instrum nt would penetrate t 

hymen, Ian it that so? A Well, there must be force enOugh 

ack of it. 

'Rut the question that Mt. DeFord asks you is Whether. 

ere has been one  penetrtion or many penetrations. From yoUx 

expeience as 

that enable you to form an opinion as to whether there has been. 

little or ve'ry much sexual in tercour e? A Yes, sir; I said facts' 

Yon have riven the reasons for it? A Yes, sir. 



Q Now, was there anything a1Do'vt,the,t4ndition of the: 

Vagina of this .girl, or the uterus or any Of her. private parts 

which indicated the use of violence,extevnal vio-

lence unusual to the .ordinary act of intercourse? 

Objected to; objection sustained. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained .1 will allow her 

to state whether she had repeated acts of intercourde., 

Would you consider fifteen times repeated ac0 

tercourse? A Yes, sir. 

,Q• You would call that repeatedintercoursel' A 

termine that the girl had more than one act Of seXual.in*o 

Q, You found these marks present in this 

Would the condition of the hymen that le to. 

aeter of the rupture of the hymen. indicate or throw any ii 

11.E. "ULLI,AN: I object- tn that t .iivompcitenti 1.311-

:naterial ,E4hd ± -relevant 



... 

A No, sir. - 

Q Noth.n an the upture-itself which would. indicate 'that? 

A No4:sir; 

7Y.J.F. SULLIVAN : 

Q Now, -would the interval of tiem from the last inter 

courSe and the • examinat ion have any bearing- Upon the condition.-  •' 

of the var•ina?..A No, air; none whatever. 

intercourse five tine S or ten times-- could you tell? A, / 

sir; I cannot, of course state the number of time. 

Q, Will you just an swer my question? 

T}-TE COURT: She said no. 

. SULLIVAN : That i s n an sWer . 

S'T.r1LIVAN: 

  Q Can 7rou tell whether a  person has ad sexual. inter •   

bourse seven or tii-Geen times? A No sir. 

After th...ee months since the last? A No, Si  

Y MR. De FO .RD: 

Q, You be nnot tell positively? A -Nosir;- certainly 110, 

Qv, did " 

course o:s your exam:ination of her for 'the .purpose of ascer--

tanin:.'(i-ovolecipe of sex -life at all or th JeXU. fu.n(3:-
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THE COURT: Objection sustained. I think that wduld be 

-clearly hearsay, anything said by the 

MR. DeFOR: I am not asking her to, tettify to what 

the girl said, but I am asking h.er if she aSlOd the 

girl any 'quest ions for the purpose of 'ascertainneih 

knowledge of the sexual f'Unctionv-

Objection sUstained. 

NB. DeFORD:. I want it -for the purpose of showing 

that this girl was in perfect ignorance of the sexual. 

function. 

— 
THE COURT: That -you will have to show from the gitl 

herself'. 

MR. DePaRp: To put her on the stand. and aSk her the 

questions? 

THE COURT: Yes.. You cannot put her unsrn 4a1.-

ration to the witness in evidence 

M. DeF0 PD : This wi tne s sh as given. her test imonY 

to what the - physical and men terl—dentlitiorrof the t*Ti—

was, and aho also examined the girl's body. 

H M U.HT' That ie not a quest ion 'for experts  wheth-

er or not @he had any knowledge of the sexual, 'relation. 

That i @ 'i&.t a question for experts. That is a question of.. 

every 1y oxperience. 

I want to know 1. he 

edRu ;x!tual function Sf t)ie )110A 

t4h nav j<nowl-, 



041, f 

as to the physical and mental conditioil of the gir 

the ability of the girl according to her •'bests. 

i)ePORD: But not on that particular subj,ec 

THE COURT: I won It allow you to examine her on 

subject because it is not a matter for expert testimony.. 

(At this point the Court a,dmoniehed the jury ca11,.! 

125 

COURT: I have already allowed her to testify 

and 

ing, their attention to Section 415 of the Code of Crim-

inal Pro cedure , and took a recess until two o' lock,.) 

( AFTER RECESS 2 p 

ANNIE VENT 0, the complainino: witness being recallect . 

Q Did the defendant ever do you had, by ehet I meant 

sexual intercourse with you more than once? 

Objected to: objection overrtiled; oicoption. 

T5R.DePORD: Deft ride LLi-f-ted—ho -had—many acts of int erect =toe 

. with .her, and thin i Tyropner rebuttal. • 

THE WITNESS: (Through interpreter Quackenbo 

t Imes. 

That nam.,, day? 

: I object to that 

sail!, J.nJoy A. Yes 

Oliwk,r? A Novanber 

Flhe-k epts repeat int 

Q, utlderstand thclune.:t 



bear three i es not after th t, she'has riot answered whether 

MR. SULLIVAN: I object to anything fvxther Unlebs. 

there is some queiition. 

THE COURT: I will allow it. 

Q Ever before that time? 

Objected t • objection overruled; exception. 

A One time one time, not before, three times November 

17th is what she repeats. 
PYR. ULLIVAg: 

Q Do you remember having three acts of sexUal inter-

course with this defendarit, is that right. A At one tie 

three times. 

BYTE COULT: 

Q Did he do it in July? A He did it in July, and 

think in October, and he did it three times on Novethberl  on 

the 17th. 

Ask her is she sure he..did it in july,.and see if s 

understands that question? A She understands the qUe3ti011:7 

and he repeats the answer, one time in Jtay, i again .itl; 

October 1-i.tt he did it three times in November, on the 17tifTkq;,. 

that vrIE.Lhe last time. 

DePORD: 1f your Honor please, i have h-ad tblr 



3.27 

been made *before. 

MR. QUAOKENBOS: May—I inteiirilpt-- At the police 'tià. 

I interpreted, and again before the, 'Grand jury, 'as Ide 

in all these 0.eaf and' dumb cases, and he told' me 12..e 

it once, but never before that one time. 

BY THE COURT: 

.Tuly? 

0, Now, ask her if any one told her to say it was done 

THE WITNESS: No, sir. 

THE INTERPRETEP: I asked her if anybody told her,. 

to say that, and she says rio. 
.q... * 

Q, Did your mo ther tell you? A - She says no. 

THE INTERPRETER: I asked her who told her, and she 

said no, and ,then she says the last time was November ,17th--
_ 

didn8t say it was the first time. 

R. DeFORD: In yg-w of these circumstances there 

is nothing to do in this' case now, but ask your Honer td 

withdraw a juror, and. dismiss the easel-that is all- a.n 

the ground of the insufficiency of the evidence ..13ut I wat: 

to say this that I did. tat have this girl,examined thwo 

the lieutenant here, Mr. QuackenboS, 'and he reported t(!). 

me that She had testified that was the only trah met iOla 

which she ever had with the defendant and that ho nc'• 

had nexual relations with, any other pers on . ks Go IdniN1 

made an n st igat ion, and she made the; saw.; r • po:rt,...30 

0,u61.03cc;nbo r; had gone throurr,h the nv.tt .r :in the poll' re 

ro)^(Aflovi waf; arl:c!,1 I-



she constantly .denied any Isnowledge of-anythingor 

kind but that one time. 

BY THE 61flBT: 

Q Did you tell your mother about the occurrence in TUlY? 

A v,o, sir; I kept my mouth shut; I was silent. 

How lonq had you known him the first time he did it to 

you? A He fooled me, he told me I must not W11 my mother 

about it, and I did not tell my mother about it in November. 

DeFORD: Upon the record the evidence before the, 

jury would not justify the defendant's conviction an 

I therefore ask that the charge against him be dismissed, 

THE COURT : yip t io 
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